

Temi di discussione

(Working Papers)

Permanent versus transitory income shocks over the business cycle

by Agnes Kovacs, Concetta Rondinelli and Serena Trucchi





Temi di discussione

(Working Papers)

Permanent versus transitory income shocks over the business cycle

by Agnes Kovacs, Concetta Rondinelli and Serena Trucchi

Number 1354 - November 2021

The papers published in the Temi di discussione series describe preliminary results and are made available to the public to encourage discussion and elicit comments.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Antonio Di Cesare, Raffaela Giordano, Monica Andini, Marco Bottone, Luca Citino, Valerio Della Corte, Lucia Esposito, Danilo Liberati, Salvatore Lo Bello, Juho Taneli Makinen, Alessandro Moro, Tommaso Orlando, Claudia Pacella, Fabio Piersanti, Dario Ruzzi, Marco Savegnago, Stefania Villa. Editorial Assistants: Alessandra Giammarco, Roberto Marano.

ISSN 1594-7939 (print) ISSN 2281-3950 (online)

Printed by the Printing and Publishing Division of the Bank of Italy

PERMANENT VERSUS TRANSITORY INCOME SHOCKS OVER THE BUSINESS CYCLE

by Agnes Kovacs^{*}, Concetta Rondinelli^{**} and Serena Trucchi^{***}

Abstract

This paper investigates how income shocks shape consumption dynamics over the business cycle. First, we break new ground and create a unique panel dataset of transitory and permanent income shocks by combining household-level income expectations with the findings of the DNB Household Survey conducted in the Netherlands in the period 2006-2018. We then use the first and second moments of the identified income shocks in a structural life-cycle framework and show that the model matches the observed consumption patterns well. Finally, using counterfactual model simulations, we assess the importance of the nature of income shocks (permanent income hypothesis), future income uncertainties (precautionary saving motive), and cohort effects, and show how they individually shaped consumption dynamics over that period in the Netherlands.

JEL Classification: C13, D12, D91, E21.

Keywords: subjective expectations, income shocks, consumption, business cycle. **DOI**: 10.32057/0.TD.2021.1354

Contents

1. Introduction	
2. Income and consumption in the DNB Household Survey	
2.1 Sample selection	9
2.2 Income measures	9
2.3 Consumption measure	
3. Identification of income shocks	
3.1 The methodology	
3.2 Identified income shocks	
4. A life-cycle model of consumption	
4.1 The model	
4.2 Solution and simulation	
5. Simulation results	
5.1 Baseline simulations	
5.2 Counterfactual simulations	
6. Conclusions	
References	
Appendix	
••	

^{*} The University of Manchester, Department of Economics and IFS.

^{**} Bank of Italy, Economic Outlook and Monetary Policy Directorate.

^{***} Cardiff University, Cardiff Business School.

1 Introduction*

How household consumption reacts to transitory and permanent income shocks is a long-standing question in macroeconomics, which is crucial both to understanding consumption behaviour and in evaluating policy change. The identification of the level of these income shocks, however, is challenging for many reasons. We normally observe total income changes, rather than transitory and permanent income changes separately. Moreover, there exists an information asymmetry between individuals and the econometrician that could lead to misclassification problems of income changes. As a consequence, the prevalent strategy to measure the transmission of income shocks to consumption is that proposed in the seminal paper of Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston (2008). Their approach does not require direct identification of the income shocks but imposes strong covariance restrictions between the income and consumption processes in order to measure the variances of transitory and permanent income shocks, and ultimately, the transmission of income to consumption.

In this paper, we use a completely different strategy to study how income shocks affect households' consumption dynamics by looking directly at the level of the income shocks. In doing so, we rely on the approach of Pistaferri (2001) and a rich micro-dataset for the Netherlands to identify permanent and transitory income shocks at the household level.¹ This allows us to build a unique panel dataset of these shocks for the period between 2006 and 2018. We then use the first and second moments of the identified income shocks in a standard, structural life-cycle framework to evaluate the importance of the nature of income shocks, future income uncertainties, and the cohort effects in shaping consumption dynamics in the Netherlands over this period.

In the first part of the paper, we consider the most widely used income process that assumes both permanent and transitory income shocks. Within this framework, we show that income shocks can be identified as different combinations of subjective income expectations and their realizations, following Pistaferri (2001). More specifically, permanent shocks are the revisions in income expectations, while transitory shocks are differences between income realizations and the expectation of future income, once the

^{*}The views expressed herein do not reflect those of the Bank of Italy. We would like to thank Rob Alessie, Orazio Attanasio, Alessandro Bucciol, Hamish Low, Mauro Mastrogiacomo, Patrick Moran, Stefano Neri, Roberta Zizza, and Francesco Zollino for helpful comments. We also thank participants in seminars at Leiden University, Ca' Foscari University, Mannheim University, and Cardiff University; Netspar International Pension Workshop 2018; RES Annual Conference 2018, CESifo Workshop on Subjective Expectations and Probabilities in Economics 2018; Bergamo Workshop on Household Consumption 2019; SIEP Annual Conference 2019. This project has also received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant agreement No 655770 (Trucchi).

¹Earlier empirical studies show that income changes are best described by combinations of permanent and transitory income shocks. See for example MaCurdy (1982) and Blundell and Preston (1998).

predictable life-cycle components are removed. Using this theoretical result, we exploit the joint availability of subjective income expectations and realizations in a micro panel dataset, the Dutch National Bank Household Survey (DHS), to compute the level of permanent and transitory income shocks. To the best of our knowledge, ours is the first attempt to use subjective income expectations for an extended period to decompose income shocks into transitory and permanent components.² The direct observation of income shocks has two important advantages. First, we can differentiate shocks by sign and size and, therefore, look at the asymmetries in consumption response along these dimensions. While most papers in the literature focus on the consumption response to an income increase,³ we shed light on the impact of both positive and negative income shocks. Second, in contrast to previous literature (such as Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston, 2008), our method does not require shocks to be uncorrelated across households and, therefore, allows us to accommodate aggregate income shocks. Disregarding aggregate shocks to income is problematic over economic recessions. For this reason, our methodology is well suited to analyse consumption behaviour over an extended time span, when household income is likely to be affected by aggregate factors.

The period we analyse covers both expansionary and recessive phases of the business cycle. We observe two recessions - the 2008-2009 Global Financial Crisis and the 2011-2013 Sovereign Debt Crisis - which are characterised by a drop in output and in aggregate consumption. Using the described identification strategy, we find that Dutch households face both significant shocks to their income and to their income uncertainties. These shocks are most significant during the two crisis periods. Negative income shocks are small and transitory during the Global Financial Crisis, albeit the increase in income uncertainties is substantial. The precautionary saving motive plays a key role in driving the fall in consumption in 2008-2009: facing higher income uncertainties, households wish to save more and consume less. During the Sovereign Debt Crisis, negative income shocks are permanent and large, however the increase in income uncertainties is also sizeable. We show that the consumption drop during 2011-2013 is triggered both by the level of income shocks and the precautionary saving motive. When we consider different cohorts, we find that the 2008-2009 crisis hits all cohorts in a similar manner, while the 2011-2013 crisis affects the income of the younger cohorts more.

After analysing the dynamics of the income shocks, in the second part of the paper we take full advantage of a structural life-cycle model in order to validate our identification strategy of transitory and permanent income shocks. We use the first and second moments of the identified income shocks in the model to simulate the consumption-savings

 $^{^{2}}$ However, the idea of using income expectations and their realizations together to circumvent the income shocks misspecification problem dates back to Hayashi (1985).

³Notable exceptions are Baugh et al. (2021) and Christellis et al. (2019).

behaviour of 10 different cohorts of households. We show the model-implied consumption dynamics between 2006 and 2018, both at the aggregate and the cohort levels, and compare these consumption profiles to their empirical counterparts.

Our relatively simple life-cycle model with identified income shocks, precautionary saving motive and many different cohorts is able to match the observed consumption dynamics well in the Netherlands between 2006 and 2018. In line with the aggregate data, our model generates two significant contractions in consumption over the sample period: one for 2008-2009 and another for 2011-2013, reflecting the Global Financial Crisis and the Sovereign Debt Crisis, respectively. We also show the simulated trajectories of consumption for different cohorts between 2006 and 2018 and compare them to consumption data from the DHS to show that they are broadly consistent with each other and are in line with the dynamics of cohort-level shocks.

To more fully understand the mechanism of income transmission to consumption, we compare different counterfactual scenarios. Income transmission to consumption within our theoretical framework is affected by the nature of income shocks (permanent income hypothesis effect), future income uncertainties (the precautionary saving effect) and the age of the households (cohort effect). Using the model, we can isolate the effect of these different channels from each other, and from other potential factors (e.g., real interest rates, wealth shocks) that might simultaneously affect consumption dynamics. We evaluate the relevance of each channel by comparing consumption profiles induced by different model variants to those observed in the data. These counterfactual simulations show that all three highlighted channels play a key role in determining consumption patterns in the period of our analysis. Turning off any of these channels would result in a simulated consumption profile that does not fit the consumption patterns observed in the data.

Our paper contributes to a large literature on measuring the transmission of different income shocks to consumption. Important examples include Pistaferri (2001), Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston (2008), Kaufmann and Pistaferri (2009), Carroll (2009), Kaplan and Violante (2010), Guvenen and Smith (2014), or Baugh et al. (2021). It is also closely related to empirical studies that examine how idiosyncratic income shocks are affected by business cycle movements; see, for example, Storesletten, Telmer, and Yaron (2004), Guvenen, Ozkan, and Song (2014). The closest papers to ours are Pistaferri (2001) and Attanasio, Kovacs, and Molnar (2020). They both identify income shocks using data on subjective income expectations. Pistaferri (2001) uses the Italian Survey on Household Income and Wealth (SHIW), which collects information on subjective income expectations and realizations in two specific waves (1989 and 1991). Because of data restrictions, this paper can only provide a snapshot of transitory and permanent shocks under strong assumptions about individuals' information set. The paper by Attanasio, Kovacs, and Molnar (2020) combines two data sources to construct a synthetic panel: one for income realization from the Consumer Expenditure Survey and one for subjective expectations from the Michigan Survey. Given the synthetic panel structure of their data, they can only identify cohort-level income shocks. Our analysis differs from theirs in that the joint availability of subjective income expectations and realizations in the DNB Household Survey allows us to construct a household-level panel dataset of permanent and transitory shocks.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we introduce the DNB Households Survey, which uniquely collects information on both expected and realized income. Following the approach proposed by Pistaferri (2001), in Section 3, we identify transitory and permanent income shocks and analyse their behaviour over 2006-2018. We then take the first and second moments of the identified shocks and use them in a life-cycle framework in Section 4 and show that the model can successfully match the observed consumption patterns. Section 5 presents different model counterfactuals to gauge the importance of the permanent vs transitory nature of income shocks, income uncertainties and cohorts, and show how they have individually shaped aggregate consumption dynamics. Finally, Section 6 concludes our paper.

2 Income and Consumption in the DNB Household Survey

In our analysis, we use data from the Dutch National Bank Household Survey (DHS) administered by CentERdata (Tilburg University, The Netherlands), which is a longitudinal survey representative of the Dutch-speaking population, which is collected annually on behalf of the Dutch National Bank via an online survey. The survey is designed for gathering information about the psychological and the economic determinants of households' financial behaviour. The dataset includes responses to six questionnaires seeking information on the general household, work, health and income, accommodation and mortgages, assets and liabilities, and psychological data.

The unique feature of the dataset is the joint availability of expected and realized income at the household-level, which is crucial to separately identify transitory and permanent income shocks. To the best of our knowledge, this is the only panel dataset which collects subjective income expectations together with their realizations covering a period of more than 10 years, including upturns and downturns in the economic business cycle.

2.1 Sample Selection

Our initial sample consists of 18,856 household heads and partners aged 21-65, interviewed in the period 2006-2018 and who are asked questions in the income module in the DHS questionnaire. As we later explain in detail, we use the panel-dimension of the survey in order to identify income shocks; therefore, we restrict our sample to individuals who are observed at least twice, which gives us 17,520 observations. Further, we also make sure that individuals we observe understand expected-income-related questions. For this purpose, we use a simple rule and exclude individuals whose maximum expected future income is below their minimum expected income or/and whose subjective probabilities attached to future events are inconsistent. We end up with 13,412 observations. Finally, to deal with outliers, we simultaneously trim the top and bottom 5% of observed and expected income and are left with a sample of 10,670 individuals.⁴ More details on the sample selection and descriptive statistics can be found in Appendix B.1.

In what follows, we describe the main variables we use in our analysis: households' income realizations, their subjective income expectations, and consumption. Variables are expressed in 2010 euros by using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands.

2.2 Income Measures

Income Realizations

The measure of household income that we use in the empirical analysis is gathered through the following question:

"What is the total net income for your household in [year]? The total net income for your household is the net income of all household members combined. Net income means the income after deduction of taxes and social security benefits."

This question is particularly well-suited to our purpose, since it refers to the same income measure that is used to elicit income expectations, namely total net household income. Even though the questions on income refer to household income, we use the answers related to both the household head and the spouse. We exploit other information collected by DHS and find that the majority of net income comes from labour earnings. On average, financial revenues represent about 18% of net income for all the respondents,

 $^{^4\}mathrm{The}$ main patterns illustrated in the paper are confirmed after a 1% trimming.

and about 31% if we consider owners of financial assets only.⁵ To assess the contribution of labour earnings to total household resources, we also examine the correlation between self-assessed total net income - our measure of interest - and gross labour income.⁶ The two variables turn out to be strongly correlated, with a regression line close to the 45-degree line.⁷ This result further supports the key role of labour income, which represents the main determinant of total household income.

Subjective Income Expectations

Subjective income expectations are collected through two sets of questions. Respondents start reporting the lower and upper bounds for expected income, respectively:

"We would like to know a little bit more about what you expect will happen to the net income of your household in the next 12 months. What do you expect to be the lowest (highest) total net yearly income your household may realize in the next 12 months?"

The interval between the lower (l) and upper (h) bounds is divided into equal intervals:

$$l + (h - l)x$$
, with $x = \frac{2}{10}, \frac{4}{10}, \frac{6}{10}, \frac{8}{10}$

Respondents declare, then, the probability that future income will be lower than the threshold l + (h - l)x. More precisely, for each threshold, they are asked:⁸

"What do you think is the probability (in percent) that the net yearly income of your household will be less than euro [threshold] in the next 12 months?"

We exploit this information to compute the expected value of net household income. More precisely, the expected value of household income is calculated multiplying the central value of each interval by the self-reported probability that future income will be in that interval. Income values below the lower bound and above the upper bound are given zero probability.

Dynamics of expected and observed income

Figure 1 plots the average income expectations (the dashed line), together with actual income data (the solid line). The year on the horizontal axis is the year of interview;

 $^{^5\}mathrm{Less}$ than 2% of households declare income from housing wealth.

 $^{^6\}mathrm{Gross}$ labour income is obtained as the sum of earnings of all household's members. Net labor income is not available.

⁷The plot of the joint distribution of logarithm of net total income and the logarithm of gross labour earnings, along with the regression line, is shown in Figure B.2 in the Appendix B.3. The estimated regression is $\ln y = 0.922 + 1.065 \ln x$, where the coefficient for $\ln x$ is significant at the 1% level.

⁸Heterogeneity in the way income expectations are elicited over time is discussed in Appendix B.1.

that is, when the information was elicited. Shaded areas in the figures indicate the two crisis periods that took place in the period of the analysis: the Global Financial Crisis (2008-2009) and the Sovereign Debt Crisis (2011-2013).

There are two episodes of sudden drop both in expected and in observed income. The first contraction occurs around the time of the Global Financial Crisis (2008-2009), when these two variables fall by similar magnitudes. The second drop is during the Sovereign Debt Crisis, when subjective income expectations fell much more than observed income. Moreover, expectations about future income remain below income realization until 2017. In 2018 we observe an increase in income expectations, not followed by a rise in their realization. The increased pessimism that we detect in the DHS dataset is also observed in the Consumer Confidence Indicator for the Netherlands, which is plotted in Figure A.2. In a similar manner to the DHS data, the Consumer Confidence Indicator exhibits a first decline starting from the second half of 2008, followed by a second more sizeable and prolonged drop, lasting from the end of 2011 until the beginning of 2014.





Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Weighted average computed using sample weights. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). Observed income refers to calendar year, while expected income refers to one year ahead. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

The Sovereign Debt Crisis follows the Global Financial Crisis with only a brief upturn occurring between them. The revisions in expectations that occurred in 2011-2013 may, thus, be related to the unique timing of these two episodes. Previous literature shows that large macroeconomic shocks affect individuals' beliefs and preferences, such as risk attitudes and expectations (Malmendier and Nagel, 2011). Notably, Malmendier and Nagel (2011) show that individuals exposed to periods of low stock returns are more pessimistic about future returns and, more generally, that experienced macroeconomic shocks are important in affecting households' present behaviour. This argument might be relevant in our case, as well for understanding the behaviour of income expectations over the two crises. Having experienced unpredicted, large, aggregate income shocks over the 2008-2009 Global Financial Crisis, households display more caution in terms of their income expectations. As a result, facing large aggregate shocks again in 2011, households used their past experiences and adjusted their expectations downwards, accordingly. In addition, the worsening of labour market conditions is more dramatic during the Sovereign Debt Crisis. The unemployment rate rises by less than one percentage point (from 3.7% to 4.4%) between 2008 and 2009, while it steadily increases during the Sovereign Debt Crisis and touches historically high levels in the Netherlands in 2013 (7.3%). This trend reflects in perceived job loss probabilities, which remain steadily high during the years 2011-2013 (see Figure A.3), suggesting a relevant impact of labour market conditions on the downward revision in income expectations. Finally, differences in primary drivers of the two crises may affect the perception of their impact on future households' income. The Global Financial Crisis is prominently an "imported crisis", with a prolonged fall in international trade dragging the Dutch economic activity down, as shown by the dramatic fall in exports. The Sovereign Debt Crisis is, instead, a "Eurozone crisis", related to the collapse of financial institutions, high government debt, and rapidly rising bond yield spreads in government securities.⁹

Reliability of Expected Income Measures

The identification of income shocks and interpretation of our results hinges on the reliability of expected income measure. For this reason, we provide evidence to support the information value and the accuracy of subjective expectations elicited by the DHS survey. Hereafter, we document their well-behaved distribution, the internal coherency between different questions about the future, and the predictive power of subjective income expectations, as suggested by Manski (2004).

First, we show that the distribution of subjective income expectations has a regular shape and shadows that of income realizations.¹⁰ This evidence is reassuring in terms of the limited diffusion of random or inaccurate responses, which points to the reliability of expected income variables. Second, we illustrate the internal coherency between

⁹Similar evidence has been shown for other European countries which were also affected by two severe recessions (e.g., Caivano, Rodano, and Siviero (2011) and Busetti and Cova (2013) for Italy).

¹⁰The density function of income expectations and realizations for the pooled cross-section dataset is plotted in Figure B.3 in the Appendix B.3. The distribution of expectations is more left-skewed and presents a mass for very low annual income (close to 0), consistent with pessimistic expectations over the period.

subjective expectations regarding income and job status. Working and not-working respondents are asked, respectively, about the probability of losing or finding a job in the next 12 months. We test the conditional correlation between expected job status and income by regressing the latter on the probability of job loss (or job finding), controlling for an unemployment indicator and a set of covariates. Estimation results, which are reported in Table B.5 in the Appendix B.3, show a correlation heading in the expected direction. Working respondents who report higher probability of losing their job are also significantly more pessimistic about future income. On the contrary, the effect of selfreported probability of finding a job on expected income is positive, although not statistically significant (possibly also because of the small number of unemployed respondents in the sample). Overall, these results support the internal coherence among questions eliciting subjective expectations, corroborating the informative power of expected income.

If declared income predictions are accurate and households form their income expectations rationally (i.e., using their full information set), we must detect a strong *ex post* correlation between subjective income expectations and their realization. We exploit the longitudinal component of the dataset, and we examine the link between income realization and subjective expectations elicited one period ahead. We start with a simple scatter plot, shown in Figure 2, that shows observations of (logarithm of) actual income (y-axis) as a function of (logarithm of) expected income (x-axis), together with the 45-degree line and a regression line that is predicted by a linear regression of observed income on expected income.

The majority of the observations are clustered around the 45-degree line and the linear regression line is close to the 45-degree line, indicating high correlation between expectations and future realizations. To examine the reason why we observe a slight deviation from the 45-degree line, we compute forecast errors and analyse their behaviour. We define the forecast error (μ_{it-1}) of household *i* as the difference between the household's expected (log) income at t-1 and its realization at time $t: \mu_{it-1} = \mathbb{E}[y_{it}|\Omega_{t-1}] - y_{it}$. We find that the average forecast error is mostly negative, as can also be seen in Figure 1. This finding is in line with the results presented by Rozsypal and Schlafmann (2017), who use the Michigan Survey to document households' systematic pessimism (see also Appendix B.2 for more details). However, following Kaufmann and Pistaferri (2009), we can also interpret these negative forecast errors as the result of persistent measurement errors in subjective reports of future income. Among income groups, low-income households underestimate their income growth, high-income households are too optimistic and overestimate their income growth, in line with Rozsypal and Schlafmann (2017).





Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). The estimated regression is $\ln \ln y_t = 1.491 + 0.857 \ln x_t$.

2.3 Consumption Measure

Since household consumption expenditure is not directly collected by the DHS survey, we need to compute it in an indirect way as the difference between net household income and household saving. Respondents are asked whether they put any money aside in the previous 12 months. In the case of a positive answer, they indicate "about how much money" the household saved in the same period by selecting the appropriate range out of seven possible value bands.¹¹ For each band, we compute the central value of the interval and subtract it from the household net income. Note that, consequently, the measurement error in our consumption variable has two sources: first, income and saving variables might be reported with an error; and second, saving is only collected in brackets. For this reason, we interpret all results based on this measure of consumption with caution and compare them with measures from the national accounts to assess their reliability.¹²

Figure 3 illustrates the average consumption patterns both at the aggregate and the cohort levels. To ease the comparison of different consumption measures, we normalize

 $^{^{11}}$ Value bands are the following: less than 1,500 euros; 1,500-5,000 euros; 5,000-12,500 euros; 12,500-20,000 euros; 20,000-37,500 euros; 37,500-75,000 euros; more than 75,000 euros.

¹²We also constructed a saving and a corresponding consumption measure by using changes in household wealth. This consumption measure, however, prove to be more noisy and deviate more from the observed consumption (from National Accounts) than the consumption measure relying on direct saving information.

them using 2008 as the reference year (= 100). The left panel of Figure 3 shows aggregate consumption dynamics in DHS recovered as described above (the solid line), together with aggregate consumption data from Eurostat, as measured in the national accounts (the dashed line). Consumption in DHS displays an overall increasing trend during the period 2006-2018, which is interrupted by two contractions, which coincide with the two recessions in 2008-2009 and 2011-2013. Consumption recovers to its pre-crisis level in 2010, one year after the Global Financial Crisis, while its fall is more prolonged during the Sovereign Debt Crisis. This pattern mirrors the aggregate measure of consumption retrieved from national accounts relatively well. The only major difference is that in DHS data consumption increases between 2009 and 2011, while it is stable in the aggregate data.

The right panel of Figure 3 plots the consumption dynamics of three different cohorts of individuals, who were born in the following years: 1945-1949 (the solid line), 1955-1959 (the dashed line), and 1965-1969 (the dotted line).¹³ Consumption patterns of the three cohorts diverge during the Global Financial Crisis, when consumption falls for the 1945-49 cohort only. Consumption of the oldest cohort recovers to pre-crisis level in 2011, while it shows an increasing trend for the middle and young cohorts. Consumption substantially falls for all the cohorts during the Sovereign Debt Crisis. It starts increasing after 2013 for the youngest, while it declines for the 1955-1959 cohort.



Figure 3: Consumption: aggregate and by cohorts (indices: 2008=100)

Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Weighted average computed using sample weights. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). Aggregate consumption from National Accounts (Eurostat) is real Household and NPISH (non-profit institutions serving household) final consumption expenditure. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

¹³Cohorts are defined by individuals' date of birth. Cohort 1955-1959, for example, includes households born between 1955 and 1959. We only consider cohort-year cells with at least 30 observations.

3 Identification of Income Shocks

In this section, we first describe the strategy we use to separately identify permanent and transitory income shocks. We then present and analyse both the first and higher moments of the identified income shocks between 2006 and 2018. Finally, we show how the dynamics of transitory and permanent income shocks vary by cohorts.

3.1 The Methodology

In order to identify the permanent and transitory components of income shock, we follow the approach proposed by Pistaferri (2001) and exploited by Attanasio, Kovacs, and Molnar (2020). This method hinges on the relationship between subjective income expectations and the corresponding income realizations. We start with the following, standard decomposition of the (logarithm of) income, as in Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston (2008):

$$y_{it} = \Pi' Z_{it} + \alpha' V_i + p_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$

$$\Pi' Z_{it} = \pi_0 + \pi_1 age_{it} + \pi_2 age_{it}^2$$
(1)

where y_{it} is the log of household income *i* at time *t*; $\Pi' Z_{it}$ is a deterministic time-varying component (second order polynomial of age), and $\alpha' V_i$ is a deterministic time invariant component, which includes gender, education and household fixed effects. p_{it} and ε_{it} are, respectively, the permanent and transitory components of income of household *i* at time *t*. The permanent income component follows a Markov process:

$$p_{it} = p_{it-1} + \zeta_{it} \tag{2}$$

where ζ_{it} is the permanent income shock. Permanent and transitory shocks are assumed to be orthogonal (at all leads and lags), unanticipated and serially uncorrelated and with zero means. Note, that we allow shocks to be correlated across households in order to accommodate aggregate shocks. Consequently, we interpret each shock as a combination of idiosyncratic, cohort-specific, and aggregate shocks.

Combining equations (1) and (2) we obtain the following equation for income growth:

$$\Delta y_{it} = \Pi' \Delta Z_{it} + \zeta_{it} + \Delta \varepsilon_{it}. \tag{3}$$

If we disregard the predictable income component $(\Pi' \Delta Z_{it})$, income changes in response to either permanent income shocks (ζ_{it}) or changes in transitory income shocks $(\Delta \varepsilon_{it})$. Under the assumption of rational expectations, we can express the two income shocks as a function of income expectations and realizations, which is described in detail in Appendix C.1. As a result, transitory and permanent income shocks can be rewritten, respectively, as:

$$\varepsilon_{it} = -\mathbb{E}[\Delta y_{it+1}|\Omega_t] + (\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 age_{it+1}) =$$

$$y_{it} - \mathbb{E}[y_{it+1}|\Omega_t] + (\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 age_{it+1})$$
(4)

and

$$\zeta_{it} = \mathbb{E}[y_{it+1}|\Omega_t] - \mathbb{E}[y_{it}|\Omega_{t-1}] - (\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 age_{it+1})$$
(5)

where \mathbb{E} is the expectation operator that takes expectations of variables conditional on the information set available to households. Ω_t is the set of information available to household *i* at time *t*. Coefficients γ_0 and γ_1 are functions of the parameters π_1 and π_2 , the coefficients on the second-order polynomial of age in equation (1).¹⁴

In this way, we can offer a straightforward interpretation of the transitory and permanent income shocks based on subjective income expectations and realizations. Apart from a predictable age affect, a transitory income shock, ε_{it} , is identified by the gap between income realization and future subjective income expectation; while a permanent shock, ζ_{it} , is identified as the change in the subjective expectations of income. Therefore, this method allows us to identify transitory and permanent income shocks separately using data only on observed and expected income, as long as shocks are serially uncorrelated.

Identifying Assumption

As discussed earlier, one of the main advantages of our identification strategy is that it does not require the income shocks to be i.i.d. Relaxing the i.i.d. assumption is of crucial importance for interpreting our results as it allows us to consider aggregate income shocks alongside the household and/or cohort-specific shocks, and represents a key contribution to the literature, which typically require stronger restrictions on the structure of shocks (e.g. Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston, 2008; Kaplan and Violante, 2010). Instead of the i.i.d. assumption, the method we use needs permanent and transitory income shocks to be serially uncorrelated at the household level.

To test this assumption, we consider an autocorrelation test with the Q-statistics suggested by Ljung and Box (1978). Instead of testing autocorrelation at different lags separately, the Ljung-Box statistics tests whether any group of autocorrelations are

¹⁴Assuming that individuals only face unanticipated income shocks is crucial for our identification strategy. When we allow for both anticipated and unanticipated income shocks, it is not possible to identify the level of income shocks, but it is possible to compute the variances of the shocks (as shown by Kaufmann and Pistaferri, 2009).

different from zero over a time series. The null hypothesis in our case states that there is no autocorrelation in the transitory (permanent) income shocks. To perform this test, we naturally need to restrict our sample to households that are observed at least in two consecutive time periods, which reduces the number of observations and creates a different sample from that used in our analysis. However, results from a smaller sample are still indicative of how shocks behave at the household level.

For the transitory shock, the p-value is greater than 0.16 for 90% of cases, while for the permanent shock the p-value is greater than 0.11 for 90% of cases. Therefore, in more than 90% of the tests performed we cannot reject the null hypothesis of no autocorrelation at the 10% level of significance. Consequently, we argue that the behaviour of our calculated income shocks is not inconsistent with our assumption that they are serially uncorrelated at the household level.

Predictable Income Component

In order to use equations (4)-(5) to calculate the income shocks, we need to determine the coefficients of the deterministic income component, γ_0 and γ_1 . Having data both on income realizations and subjective income expectations makes it easy to calculate oneyear-ahead income growth expectations. Then simply by regressing reported expected income growth on a constant and on age, we can obtain estimates for γ_0 and γ_1 . The estimated coefficients are $\hat{\gamma}_0 = .0082$ and $\hat{\gamma}_1 = -.0016$. The combinations of income realizations, subjective income expectations, and predictable income components over the life-cycle identify 5,490 transitory and permanent shocks, as expressed in equations (4) and (5).

3.2 Identified Income Shocks

After discussing the method to identify income shocks separately, we next present our results both for permanent and transitory income shocks. We analyse first moment and distribution of the identified income shocks over time and their heterogeneity across cohorts.

First Moments of Income Shocks

In Figure 4, we illustrate the dynamics of average permanent (the solid line) and transitory (the dashed line) income shocks between 2006 and 2018. In addition, we also present the changes in average transitory income shocks (the dotted line) that, besides the permanent income shocks, drive income changes, as shown in equation (3).





Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Weighted average computed using sample weights. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). Permanent and transitory shocks are calculated following the method described in Section 3. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

Transitory shocks over the period of observation are almost always positive, except for 2009-2011 and 2018. As seen in equation (4), transitory income shocks are positive when subjective income expectations for the future ($\mathbb{E}[y_{t+1}|\Omega_t]$) are below their observed value in the present (y_t) . We can interpret the systematic (yet small) discrepancy between future income expectations and today's income realizations as a measure of general pessimism. Looking at changes in transitory income shocks, which are relevant for income changes, we only document positive changes for the years between 2010 and 2013 and for 2016. Permanent income shocks over the same period show higher volatility than transitory income shocks. Between 2006-2011 and after 2015 permanent income shocks are positive, while between 2011 and 2015 they are significantly negative. As seen in equation (5), positive (negative) permanent income shocks imply upward (downward) revisions in subjective income expectations.

Focusing now on the two crisis periods over the sample, there are visible differences between income shocks during the Global Financial Crisis and the Sovereign Debt Crisis. In 2009, the average permanent income shock is zero, while the average transitory income shock is only slightly negative but decreasing. Consequently, the observed income drop in Figure 1 in 2009 is triggered by a negative change in the transitory income shock. By contrast, in 2012 and 2013 the average permanent income shocks are large and negative, while the average transitory income shocks are positive throughout. As a result, the observed income drop in Figure 1 in 2012 is driven by negative permanent income shocks.

It is also worth noting here that transitory shocks and permanent income shocks are negatively correlated via the expected future income, as seen in equations (4) and (5). *Ceteris paribus*, a decrease in expectation on future income reflects in a negative permanent shock and a positive transitory shock. The opposite movement of the two shocks during the Sovereign Debt Crisis is a clear example of a decrease in future income expectation.

Higher Moments of Income Shocks

In Figure 5, we look at higher moments of transitory and permanent income shocks by presenting the kernel densities for each of them. On the left-hand side, we plot densities for permanent income shocks, while on the right-hand side we plot that for transitory income shocks. In general, the kernel densities are well-behaved: the centre of the income shocks distributions are at zero with variances that are larger for the permanent income shocks than for transitory income shocks.



Figure 5: Kernel densities of permanent and transitory income shocks

Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). Permanent and transitory shocks are calculated following the method described in Section 3.

A relevant aspect of idiosyncratic income shock heterogeneities is whether and to what extent these heterogeneities are affected by the business cycle. Storesletten, Telmer, and Yaron (2004), for example, show that idiosyncratic permanent shock variances are countercyclical, which result in higher income uncertainty during recessions: households can receive both larger positive and larger negative permanent income shocks. In contrast, Guvenen, Ozkan, and Song (2014) document greater uncertainty in recessions without an increasing chance of upward movements in income. They show that during recessions, large upward income movements become less likely, without a change in the centre of the income shock distribution. This results in a countercyclical left-skewness.

To examine the business cycle effects on shocks' distribution in our sample, we separate our identified income shocks according to when they are observed, and plot their kernel densities in Figure 5, separately. We differentiate between three particular periods: no-recession periods, which we call our benchmark (the solid grey line), the Global Financial Crisis period between 2008-2009 (the solid black line), and the Sovereign Debt Crisis period between 2001-2013 (the dashed line).

The centre of the income shock distributions does not move much during recessions, compared to the no-recession period, while the tails of the shock distributions move quite asymmetrically. Considering first the distributions of permanent income shocks, we observe no clear pattern in the shift of shock distribution during the Global Financial Crisis: exceptionally large negative income shocks become less likely, while small negative shocks and positive income shocks become more likely. The shift in distribution is more clearly seen during the Sovereign Debt crisis, when permanent income shocks are substantial: large negative income shocks become more likely, whereas the probability of experiencing large positive income shocks decreases. These findings reinforce the results of Guvenen, Ozkan, and Song (2014), who state that idiosyncratic permanent shocks are not countercyclical, instead their left-skewness is countercyclical.

Considering next the distributions of transitory income shocks, we observe a significant shift in distribution during the Global Financial Crisis: small negative income shocks become more likely, while the probability of experiencing large positive income shocks decreases. The transitory income distribution does not change significantly during the Sovereign Debt Crisis.

Heterogeneities by Cohort

Average income shocks potentially mask heterogeneities across households, which might shed light on the channels driving the dynamics of aggregate variables. For this reason, in Figure 6 we illustrate the time trend of income shocks for cohorts described earlier in Figure 3: for households born between 1945-1949 (the solid line), 1955-1959 (the dashed line), and 1965-1969 (the dotted line).¹⁵

¹⁵Tables D.2 and D.3 report the evolution of permanent and transitory shocks for all cohorts.





Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Weighted average computed using sample weights. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). Permanent and transitory shocks are calculated following the method described in Section 3. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

The left panel in Figure 6 highlights two important facts. First, only the 1965-69 cohort face slightly negative permanent income shocks (a downward revision of income expectations) over the 2008-2009 Global Financial Crisis. Second, all of the cohort face large and negative permanent income shocks over the 2011-2013 Sovereign Debt Crisis, however the youngest cohort suffers the most negative shocks. After 2013, the 1955-59 cohort experiences relatively small permanent shocks, which fluctuate around zero, while the youngest cohort continuously faces positive permanent income shocks.

The right panel in Figure 6 plots the dynamics of transitory income shocks for the same cohorts. We observe a decline in transitory shocks for all the cohorts in the initial period, until the 2008-2009 crisis, while only the 1945-49 cohort is hit by a negative transitory shock during the Global Financial Crisis. All the cohorts face positive transitory shocks in 2011-2017, including the Sovereign Debt Crisis, and experience a large negative shock in 2018.

4 A Life-Cycle Model of Consumption

In this section, we use a structural model to map income shocks identified in Section 3 into consumption dynamics. We consider a standard incomplete market life-cycle model, which has become the workhorse framework for quantitative analysis in macroeconomics over the last decades (see for instance Deaton, 1991; Carroll, 1997; Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston, 2008; Kaplan and Violante, 2010).¹⁶ In this framework, households do not

 $^{^{16}}$ Our model is similar to that used by Kaplan and Violante (2010), who evaluate the precision of the insurance coefficient derived and estimated by Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston (2008). They find

only save for expected future income drops (say for retirement) but also for precautionary reasons motivated by uncertain future income and liquidity constraints. We use the model to simulate household consumption using the income shocks identified in Section 3. We then compare aggregate consumption dynamics from the model to that traced in the Dutch data.

4.1 The Model

We build a standard incomplete market model of life-cycle consumption and savings, where households face permanent and transitory income uncertainty. We assume that households live for T periods as adults: they work for W periods and retire afterwards.¹⁷ Households maximize their present discounted lifetime utility, which only depends on their non-durable consumption. To reallocate resources between periods, households have access to one-period bond, which yields a gross interest rate of R^X . There is no credit market in the model, hence households are liquidity constrained at the beginning of their life and accumulate wealth for life-cycle and precautionary purposes. The only uncertainty households face in the model comes from different income shocks of a transitory and permanent nature. We consider different cohorts of households who differ in terms of their expectations and realization of the income shocks and income uncertainties they face.

The Value Function

Households have time-separable expected utility given by:

$$\mathbb{E}_0 \sum_{t=1}^T \beta^{t-1} U(C_{i,c,t}) \tag{6}$$

hence, we can formulate households value function in a recursive form as follows:

$$V_{i,c,t}(X_{i,c,t}, P_{i,c,t}) = \max_{\{C_{i,c,t}\}} U(C_{i,c,t}) + \beta \mathbb{E}_{i,c,t} V_{i,c,t+1}(X_{i,c,t+1}, P_{i,c,t+1}),$$
(7)

subject to:

$$X_{i,c,t+1} = R^X (X_{i,c,t} - C_{i,c,t}) + Y_{i,c,t+1}$$
(8)

that the estimated insurance coefficients by Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston (2008) are very similar to those predicted by the structural model, however they are, in general, downward biased.

¹⁷In our model, we make a number of stark assumptions to focus on the main points we want to make. Most of these assumptions (such as deterministic length of life, the absence of bequests or the absence of different assets), can be easily relaxed and would not affect the nature of the exercise we present below.

where $V_{i,c,t}$ is the value function for household *i* belonging to cohort *c* at time *t*. $C_{i,c,t}$ is non-durable consumption, $Y_{i,c,t}$ is labour income, and $P_{i,c,t}$ is the permanent part of the labour income, to be defined later in this section. $X_{i,c,t}$ is cash-on-hand, defined as the sum of savings and labour income in period t.¹⁸ Finally, parameter β is the discount factor.

Sources of Uncertainty

In our framework, the only source of uncertainty households face is idiosyncratic labor income. In line with the income process described by equations (1) and (2), we assume that (log) labor income is exogenously described by a combination of deterministic and random components at any time before retirement. The (log) labour income, $y_{i,c,t}$, for household *i* belonging to cohort *c* at time *t* is defined as:

$$y_{i,c,t} = G_t + p_{i,c,t} + \varepsilon_{i,c,t} \tag{9}$$

with G_t being a deterministic function of age only; $p_{i,c,t}$ is the permanent income component for household *i* belonging to cohort *c* at time *t*, while $\varepsilon_{i,c,t}$ is the transitory income shock for the same household. The permanent income component follows a martingale process:

$$p_{i,c,t} = p_{i,c,t-1} + \zeta_{i,c,t}$$
 (10)

where $\zeta_{i,c,t}$ is the shock to permanent income. We assume that both the transitory and permanent income shocks are normally distributed over individuals in a given cohort, with cohort-specific distributional parameters.

Income at any time after retirement is a constant, a, a fraction of the last working year's permanent labour income, such as a pension that is wholly provided by the employer and/or the state.

Utility Function

We assume CRRA (Constant Relative Risk Aversion) utilities:

$$X_{i,c,t} = R^X A_{i,c,t-1} + Y_{i,c,t}.$$

¹⁸Cash-on-hand in period t the sum of the assets carried over from time t-1 to t $(A_{i,c,t-1})$ augmented with the constant interest rate (R^X) and labour income in period t $(Y_{i,c,t})$:

$$U(C_{i,c,t}) = \frac{C_{i,c,t}^{1-\rho}}{1-\rho}$$
(11)

where the curvature parameter $\rho \geq 0$ represents the risk aversion parameter that equals the inverse of the elasticity of intertemporal substitution. CRRA utility functions are able to capture the precautionary motive of households, the motive to "save for a rainy day", which might be of crucial importance in understanding the consumption behaviour of households,¹⁹ and which we analyse in Section 5.

4.2 Solution and Simulation

In this section, we first show details of our calibration, and then discuss the steps of the model's solution and simulation. Our life-cycle problem cannot be solved analytically, so we apply numerical techniques. Given the finite nature of the problem, a solution exists and can be obtained by approximating optimal policy functions by backward induction.

Calibration

Time Preference. Papers estimating time preference parameter β (see for instance Gourinchas and Parker, 2002) find that the estimates vary around the value of 0.95 (at annual frequency). As a result, the most widely used value for calibrating β is 0.95; we use $\beta = 0.95$ in our model.

Risk Aversion Parameter. The existing literature reports estimated values for the risk aversion parameter, ρ , that vary roughly between 0 and 2 (see for instance Attanasio and Weber, 1993; Blundell, Browning, and Meghir, 1994; Gruber, 2013; Kovacs, Low, and Moran, 2021). We experiment with four different values of $\rho = \{0.3, 0.5, 1.0, 2.0\}$ in the model, and choose to match the aggregate consumption profile presented in Figure 3. As a result, we set parameter ρ to 0.5 in our baseline model.²⁰

Income. The deterministic component of income $(G_t \text{ in equation } (9))$ is approximated by a second-order polynomial of age on observed (log) income from the DHS. The estimated coefficients of this polynomial are listed in Table D.6 in Appendix D.5.

Cohorts. Taking full advantage of the cohort-level panel dataset of the income shocks we constructed in Section 3.1, we assume that households in our structural model also

¹⁹See, for example, Zeldes (1989), Kimball (1990), Deaton (1991) or Carroll (1997), who have all emphasized the importance of precautionary motives for savings.

²⁰Note that we would have tried values lower than $\rho = 0.3$ or higher than $\rho = 2.0$ if we saw improvement in the fit of the model as we decrease/increase the risk aversion parameter.

belong to different cohorts. It is crucial to take into account the existence of different cohorts at least for two reasons. First, households in different cohorts have experienced different income shocks and different levels of uncertainty, hence their income and consumption trajectories can differ significantly. Second, households in different cohorts are, by definition, at different stages of their life-cycle and, as a result, their consumption reacts differently to similar income shocks. We consider 10 different cohorts of households in our model. Households are grouped by their age in 2006, using five-year age intervals between the ages of 20 and 65.

All the parameter values that we use to solve and simulate the model are listed in Table D.6 in Appendix D.5.

Solution

We use backward induction over the normalized value function of the households to obtain the optimal policy functions.²¹ Expectations in the model refer to uncertain incomes, while they are evaluated using the Gauss-Hermite approximation. Since the innovations of income are log-normally distributed random variables in each period for each cohort, we are able to use a two-dimensional Gauss-Hermite quadrature to approximate the expectations. See more details in Appendix D.2.

In order to take into account that different groups of households might expect and experience different income shocks, we solve each cohort's problem separately. In doing so, we consider income shock expectations and their variances to be different for different cohorts. In particular, we assume that the expected income shock for a household in a given cohort is the average of all the historically observed income shocks within that particular cohort, and therefore can be calculated as:

$$\mu_{\varepsilon,c} = \frac{\sum_{i} \sum_{t} \varepsilon_{i,c,t}}{N_{c}}, \qquad \mu_{\zeta,c} = \frac{\sum_{i} \sum_{t} \zeta_{i,c,t}}{N_{c}}$$

where $\mu_{\varepsilon,c}$ ($\mu_{\zeta,c}$) is the mean value of transitory (permanent) income shock for cohort c, while N_c is the number of observations in a given cohort. The corresponding expected income shock variances can be easily computed at the cohort level as:

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon,c}^2 = \frac{\sum_i \sum_t (\varepsilon_{i,c,t} - \varepsilon_c)^2}{N_{\rm c}}, \qquad \sigma_{\zeta,c}^2 = \frac{\sum_i \sum_t (\zeta_{i,c,t} - \zeta_c)^2}{N_{\rm c}}$$

where $\sigma_{\varepsilon,c}^2$ ($\sigma_{\zeta,c}^2$) is the variance of transitory (permanent) income shocks for cohort c. To calculate these statistics, we rely on the identified transitory and permanent income

 $^{^{21}}$ Following Carroll (1992), variables are normalised by permanent income for ease of computation. In Appendix D.1, we show the detailed derivation of the standardized model.

shocks $(\varepsilon_{i,c,t}, \zeta_{i,c,t})$ from Section 3.²²

Simulation

Once the decision rules/policy functions are obtained via our solution algorithm, we simulate the behaviour of 50,000 households for 10 different cohorts (5,000 households per cohort). When simulating the model, we consider income shocks to be normally distributed, with cohort and time-specific distributional parameters. In particular, we assume that the mean of the distribution is the average of the observed income shocks in a particular cohort and year, and therefore can be calculated as:

$$\mu_{\varepsilon,c,t} = \frac{\sum_{i} \varepsilon_{i,c,t}}{N_{c,t}}, \qquad \mu_{\zeta,c,t} = \frac{\sum_{i} \zeta_{i,c,t}}{N_{c,t}}$$

where $\mu_{\varepsilon,c,t}$ ($\mu_{\zeta,c,t}$) is the mean value of transitory (permanent) income shock for cohort c at time t, while $N_{c,t}$ is the number of observation in a given cohort c at time t. The corresponding variance of the distribution can be computed as:

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon,c,t}^2 = \frac{\sum_i (\varepsilon_{i,c,t} - \varepsilon_{c,t})^2}{N_{\rm c, t}}, \qquad \sigma_{\zeta,c,t}^2 = \frac{\sum_i (\zeta_{i,c,t} - \zeta_{c,t})^2}{N_{\rm c, t}}.$$

where $\sigma_{\varepsilon,c,t}^2$ ($\sigma_{\zeta,c,t}^2$) is the variance of transitory (permanent) income shock for cohort c at time t. To calculate these statistics, we rely on the identified transitory and permanent income shocks ($\varepsilon_{i,c,t}, \zeta_{i,c,t}$) from Section 3.²³

In each individual simulation, we draw realizations for the two income shocks ($\varepsilon_{i,c,t}$, $\zeta_{i,c,t}$) from normal distributions characterized by parameters ($\mu_{\varepsilon,c,t}, \sigma_{\varepsilon,c,t}^2$) and ($\mu_{\zeta,c,t}, \sigma_{\zeta,c,t}^2$), respectively. We assume that each household starts its life with zero wealth, and only receives labour income; therefore, early in life households are liquidity constrained. When aggregating variables, we use cohort weights, which are representative weights of the Dutch population.²⁴

5 Simulation Results

In this section, we present results from our structural model. First, we discuss the simulation results from our baseline model with the identified transitory and permanent income shocks. We then show several counterfactual simulations to gauge the importance of the nature of income shocks, future income uncertainties, and cohort-effects, in

²²Income shocks and variances by cohort are reported in Table D.1 in Appendix D.3.

²³Income shocks and their variances by cohort and year are reported in Tables D.2-D.5.

²⁴Cohort weights are reported in Table D.1 in Appendix D.3.

individually shaping aggregate consumption dynamics.

For the ease of comparison to Figure 3, which shows the observed evolution of aggregate variables, we normalize all the simulated consumption profiles using 2008 as the base year (=100).

5.1 Baseline Simulations

We first describe the performance of our calibrated baseline model with the first and second moments of the identified transitory and permanent income shocks. Figure 7 shows the simulated aggregate life-cycle profile of consumption²⁵ (the solid line), its empirical counterpart from Eurostat data (the dashed line), and the consumption measure calculated from DHS data (the dotted line). As discussed in detail in Section 2.3, the latter needs to be interpreted with caution as it is subject to large measurement errors. For this reason, we focus on consumption data from the Eurostat when comparing our model to the data. Overall, the simulated model obtains a good fit with the empirical data. Matching the observed aggregate consumption is not only successful over "normal times", but also over crisis periods. Our model generates two significant contractions in consumption over the sample period: one for 2008-2009, and another for 2011-2013, reflecting the Global Financial Crisis and the Sovereign Debt Crisis, respectively.

Consumption dynamics in our model can only be linked to three possible driving mechanisms: the nature of the income shocks, future income uncertainties, and age. Therefore, the model-implied consumption path shown in Figure 7 is a combination of these three forces, which we analyse one by one in Section 5.2. Consumption dynamics in reality, however, might be linked to other channels which are not analysed in this paper. For instance, Slacalek (2009), Mian, Rao, and Sufi (2013) and Bottazzi, Wakefield, and Trucchi (2020) show that shocks in financial and housing wealth affect consumption decline during the Great Financial crisis. Nevertheless, the three channels we examine play a key role in determining the aggregate consumption path between 2006 and 2018, as shown in Figure 7.

The Global Financial Crisis and the Sovereign Debt Crisis

As shown in Figure 7, our model generates two substantial falls in consumption over the period of interest. Consumption in the first contraction period, between 2008 and 2009, drops by 1.9%, which corresponds exactly to what is experienced in the Netherlands

²⁵The simulated model is based on calibrated parameters that are reported in Table D.6 and risk aversion parameter of $\rho = 0.5$. For different values of ρ , results can be found in Figure E.1 in Appendix E.1.

Figure 7: Consumption dynamics: the model, aggregate and DHS data (indices: 2008=100)



Notes: The model is simulated under baseline parameter settings listed in Table D.6 and risk aversion parameter of $\rho = 0.5$. We calculate aggregate consumption in the baseline model by simulating cohort-level consumption profiles and we aggregate them using appropriate cohort weights (representative of the Dutch population). We then create a consumption index by using 2008 as the base year (2008=100). Aggregate consumption (from Eurostat) is real Household and NPISH (non-profit institutions serving household) final consumption expenditure. Data from the DHS is obtained as illustrated in Section 2.3. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

during the Global Financial Crisis.²⁶ Consumption in the second contraction period, between 2011 and 2013 decreases by 2.5% in the model, similar to the actual 2.1% drop observed that during the Sovereign Debt crisis (Figure A.1 in Appendix A). To better understand the driving forces behind these contraction periods in our model, it is worth revisiting the income shocks that households face over the two episodes.

Starting with the Global Financial Crisis in 2008-2009, Figure 4 highlights that, on average, neither the level of permanent nor transitory income shocks are significantly negative in 2009. As a result, the 2009 consumption drop depicted in Figure 7 cannot be driven by the level of the income shocks. However, the distribution of income shocks in Figure 5 show a significant increase in the uncertainty of the transitory income shocks over the Global Financial Crisis. Compared to 'normal' times, in 2008-2009 large upward movements in income, triggered by transitory income shocks, become less likely, while large downward movements become more likely. This change in income uncertainty induces a stronger precautionary saving motive in our model: households, facing

²⁶See Appendix A for more details.

an increased probability of a negative income shock, wish to save more and therefore consume less.

Turning to the Sovereign Debt Crisis in 2011-2013, Figure 4 shows that permanent income shocks are significantly negative both in 2012 and in 2013, which reflect in the 2012-2013 consumption drop predicted by the model and shown in Figure 7. Furthermore, Figure 5 highlights the importance of the change in permanent income shock uncertainties: in 2011-2013 large downward movements in income, triggered by permanent income shocks, become more likely. As a result, the precautionary saving motive becomes stronger in the model: facing an increased probability of a negative income shock, households wish to save more and therefore consume less. Finally, cohort heterogeneity in income shocks affects the consumption drop in 2011-2013. As shown in Figure 6, permanent shocks during the Sovereign Debt Crisis are larger for younger cohorts, who respond more to worsening lifetime resources due to their longer time horizon.

Calculated income shocks and the results of the structural model suggest that the drivers of the contractions in consumption over the two crises are different. The increase in income uncertainties (predominantly transitory shocks) is the main determinant of the consumption fall in 2008-2009. In contrast, the negative income shocks and the increase in income uncertainties (predominantly permanent shocks) play a major role in explaining consumption drop during the Sovereign Debt Crisis.

To further examine the contribution of alternative channels in explaining consumption dynamics within our framework, we implement counterfactual simulations illustrated below.

5.2 Counterfactual Simulations

In this section, we consider the three main channels that potentially drive consumption movements in our framework: first, the nature of the income shocks; second, the precautionary saving motive; and third, the cohort effects. We run counterfactual simulations in order to analyse the impact of these three different channels on consumption behaviour individually.

The Nature of the Shocks

According to the textbook version of the permanent income hypothesis, only unanticipated permanent income shocks should induce substantial changes in consumption. Expected or transitory income shocks, instead, should not alter consumption significantly. When we consider a finite-period version of the permanent income hypothesis, however, the predictions are not as straightforward, given that the age of the individuals also plays a role in the responses to different shocks. This is particularly relevant in our case, where many different cohorts of households are present at the same time.



Figure 8: Simulated consumption profile: observed shocks perceived as permanent

Notes: Both the baseline and the counterfactual model is simulated under parameter settings listed in Table D.6 and risk aversion parameter of $\rho = 0.5$. The counterfactual model assumes that all the shocks are perceived by households as permanent. We calculate aggregate consumption in both models by simulating cohort-level consumption profiles and aggregate them using appropriate cohort weights (representative of the Dutch population). We then create a consumption index by using 2008 as the base year (2008=100). Aggregate consumption (from Eurostat) is real Household and NPISH (non-profit institutions serving household) final consumption expenditure.

We illustrate how the nature of the income shocks shapes aggregate consumption profile by simulating a model variant where households perceive all the income shocks (which we have identified) as permanent. In this hypothetical scenario, households cannot differentiate between transitory and permanent income shocks, and they mistakenly consider all shocks as permanent.

Figure 8 presents simulated consumption profiles from this counterfactual model (the dotted line) together with our baseline results (the solid line) and the data (the dashed line), with the latter two being identical to those seen in Figure 7. It is evident that consumption from the counterfactual model and the data are completely different: until 2008, consumption from the model is below the observed consumption data, while after 2008 it is above.

Recalling the trajectories of permanent and transitory income shocks, shown in Figure 4 and their distributions in Figure 5, we can interpret the results in Figure 8. We have to consider the sum of the two income shocks that, in this counterfactual model, represent the perceived permanent income shocks households face. The sum of the two shocks is only negative between 2011 and 2013, implying no significant consumption drop in our model, except for the period of the Sovereign Debt Crisis. Note also, that by perceiving permanent income shocks only, households also face higher future income uncertainties (compared to our baseline model with both transitory and permanent income shocks), and hence a stronger motive for precautionary saving. As a result, households in the model have lower consumption till 2008, compared to the data, and they do not react to the Global Financial Crisis as much as when the shocks are perceived correctly (as in our baseline model).

From this counterfactual model simulation, we conclude that the nature of income shocks is crucial in shaping aggregate consumption: by assuming that all the income shocks are perceived as permanent, the model cannot explain the dynamics of the Dutch economy between 2006-2018. In particular, the model predicts a 1.2% increase in aggregate consumption between the 2008-2009 Global Financial Crisis, as opposed to the observed drop of 1.9%. Moreover, assuming that all the income shocks are perceived as permanent, the model generates a 0.3% increase in aggregate consumption between the 2011-2013 Sovereign Debt Crisis, which is far from the observed drop of 2.1%. Note that assuming that households perceive all the shocks as transitory instead also implies unreasonable aggregate consumption profiles, as shown in Figure E.2 in the Appendix.

The Precautionary Saving Motive

If we extend the textbook version of the permanent income hypothesis model with labour uncertainties (or liquidity constraints) and prudent preferences²⁷, the model can accommodate the so-called precautionary saving motive that triggers households to save more and consume less if the downside risk to their future income increases. Given the CRRA preferences and the presence of both labour uncertainties and liquidity constraints in our model, the precautionary saving motive plays a role in households' consumption/saving behaviour in our baseline simulations.

The consumption literature has adopted the view that precautionary saving is an important aspect of households' savings behaviour, however there are some studies suggesting that wealth accumulation for precautionary reasons is relatively small.²⁸ In what

$$-\frac{c \cdot u'''}{u''}$$

 $^{^{27}}$ Kimball (1990) defines relative prudence using the second and third derivatives of the utility function:

Prudence measures the strength of the precautionary saving motive as a function of risk.

²⁸Jappelli, Padula, and Pistaferri (2008), Hurst et al. (2010) or Fulford (2015) find a small effect of precautionary saving, while Carroll and Samwick (1997), Gruber and Yelowitz (1999), Dynan, Skinner,

Figure 9: Simulated consumption profile: no precautionary motive



Notes: Both the baseline and the counterfactual model is simulated under parameter settings listed in Table D.6 and risk aversion parameter of $\rho = 0.5$. The counterfactual model is the perfect certainty version of our baseline model. We calculate aggregate consumption in both models by simulating cohort-level consumption profiles and aggregate them using appropriate cohort weights (representative of the Dutch population). We then create a consumption index by using 2008 as the base year (2008=100). Aggregate consumption (from Eurostat) is real Household and NPISH (non-profit institutions serving household) final consumption expenditure.

follows, we evaluate the importance of the precautionary channel within our framework. In doing so, we simulate another model variant, assuming that households do not face income uncertainties and hence they do not accumulate wealth for precautionary reasons. Following Carroll (1997), we consider the perfect certainty version of our baseline CRRA model described above. By assuming that transitory and permanent income shocks are known in advance and that households do not expect these shocks to deviate from their expectations, we are able to cease the precautionary saving effects.

Figure 9 shows the consumption profile from the perfect certainty version of our CRRA model (the dotted line) together with our baseline consumption profile (the solid line) and the data (the dashed line). In comparison with the baseline model, the alternative model without the precautionary saving motive implies higher volatility in consumption. The reason is straightforward: if households do not expect any downside risk to their future income, they do not accumulate wealth for precautionary purposes. These households consume more and save less than those in the baseline model with the and Zeldes (2004) find that a significant fraction of savings is due to the presence of income uncertainty.

precautionary motive.²⁹ The lack of the precautionary saving motive makes households less insured against negative income shocks.

Ignoring the precautionary saving motive causes the counterfactual model to fail to match the empirical consumption profile over the period of interest. In particular, the model predicts a 0.8% decrease in aggregate consumption between the 2008-2009 Global Financial Crisis, as opposed to the observed drop of 1.9%. Moreover, in the absence of the precautionary saving motive, the model generates a 4.4% decrease in aggregate consumption between the 2011-2013 Sovereign Debt Crisis, which is more than twice as much as the observed drop of 2.1%. These results suggest that the precautionary saving motive plays a crucial role in households' consumption and savings behaviour in our framework. Therefore, our baseline model is more suitable for task of investigating consumption sensitivity to income shocks than a model without the precautionary saving motive.

Different Cohorts

Our structural framework is based on cohort-level differences. As we point out in Section 4.2, taking into account the existence of various cohorts is crucial at least for two reasons. First, households belonging to different cohorts might experience quite different shocks to their income. Second, households belonging to different cohorts might react differently to similar income shocks as predicted by a finite version of the permanent income hypothesis. A same-sized transitory income shock, for instance, triggers larger consumption responses for older cohorts, as they face a shorter time horizon ahead to smooth over income shocks. In contrast, a same-sized permanent income shock causes larger consumption responses for younger cohorts, as the effect of the shock on lifetime resources is greater for those with longer time horizon ahead. Next, we analyse these cohort level differences and their impact on the aggregate consumption dynamics between 2006 and 2018 in the Netherlands.

Figure 10a presents the simulated consumption paths for three different cohorts born between 1945-1949 (the solid line), 1955-1959 (the dashed line), and 1965-1969 (the dotted line), while Figure 10b shows their empirical counterparts (already seen in Figure 3). The cohort-level consumption profiles from the DNB Household Survey data exhibit higher volatility than those from our simulated model, due to large measurement errors in imputed consumption. Consequently, we interpret differences in the model and the data with caution and focus mainly on comparing general trends of consumption dynamics rather than levels of consumption.

²⁹In Figure E.3 in Appendix E.1, we compare households' savings behaviour over the life-cycle in the baseline model and in the model without the precautionary saving motive.




Notes: The model is simulated under baseline parameter settings listed in Table D.6 and risk aversion parameter of $\rho = 0.5$. We then create a consumption index for each cohort by using 2008 as the base year (2008=100). Data from the DHS is obtained as illustrated in Section 2.3. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

During the 2008-2009 crisis, the oldest cohort suffers the largest drop in consumption both in our simulated model and in the Dutch data. This highlights the importance of the negative transitory income shock the oldest cohort faces in 2009, as seen earlier in Figure 6. These transitory income shocks can trigger considerable changes in consumption for older households, as they face a short time horizon ahead to smooth over income shocks. Moreover, as the uncertainties over these transitory income shocks also increase during the Global Financial Crisis, the impact of these shocks on consumption is further amplified. Note, however, that the reason the consumption of the oldest cohort drops most significantly is also related to life-cycle effects (i.e. households in cohort 1945-1949 become retired around 2011, which may be associated with a consumption drop; see for instance Battistin et al., 2009).

Having established that the simulated cohort-level consumption profiles during the 2008-2009 crisis are in line with those from the DNB Household Survey, we next consider how aggregate and cohort-level consumption profiles compare. As documented earlier, aggregate consumption drops by 1.9% between 2008-2009 both in our simulated baseline model and in the data. When we only consider the oldest cohort in our sample, cohort 1945-1949 for example, the drop in consumption is significantly higher with a 2.7% decrease.

During the 2011-2013 crisis, we find that consumption of all cohorts decreases substantially, both in our simulated model and in the Dutch data. Permanent income shocks trigger large declines in consumption for young households, as the effect of permanent shocks on their lifetime resources is substantial.³⁰ Moreover, as the uncertainties over these permanent income shocks also increase over the 2011-2013 crisis, the impact of these shocks on consumption is further amplified. Comparing our cohort-level results to the observed aggregate consumption, we find that consumption would have dropped by almost five times as much as aggregate consumption if we only considered the oldest cohort, cohort 1945-1949. Consumption for this cohort drops as much as 11.1% between 2011-2013.

Ignoring the fact the households consist of different age groups is not only unrealistic but also has important implications on aggregate consumption dynamics in the model. Different cohorts experience different shocks to their income, and they respond to those shocks differently. By aggregating up the various cohorts, however, our model can successfully match the aggregate consumption profile observed in the data between 2006 and 2018, as shown in our baseline simulation in Figure 7.

6 Conclusions

In this paper, we present a unique panel dataset of transitory and permanent income shocks in the Netherlands between 2006 and 2018. As our first contribution, we identify the level of these income shocks by following the method of Pistaferri (2001) that combines subjective income expectations with income realizations. Our results show that Dutch households faced significant income shocks over the observational period, and especially during the Global Financial Crisis (2008-2009) and the Sovereign Debt Crisis (2011-2013). We find that the income shocks experienced during the 2008- 2009 crisis are of a different nature than the shocks experienced during the 2011-2013 crisis, with the 2011-2013 shocks being perceived as more permanent. Looking at the income uncertainties, instead, we highlight that the two crises are somewhat similar, as the distributions of the income shocks exhibited countercyclical left-skewness. Finally, we show that the 2008-2009 crisis hit all the cohorts in a similar manner, while the 2011-2013 crisis affects the income of younger cohorts the most.

As a second contribution, we used the first and second moments of the identified shocks in a structural model to address important points of income transmission to consumption that would not be possible in a reduced-form setting. Our baseline model with the income shocks generates very similar consumption patterns to those observed in the data, both at the aggregate and the cohort level. Further, using counterfactual model simulations we demonstrate the importance of the three channels that drive consumption

³⁰Note that the consumption drop for the oldest cohort is also significant, however this drop is a combination of the negative income shocks and the predicted life-cycle dynamics of income, as households in cohort 1945-1949 are beyond retirement by this time.

movements in our theoretical framework: the nature of income shocks, the precautionary saving motive, and the cohort effects.

The strategy used in this paper is not without limitations. Probably the most important of all is the fact that the identification relies on the assumption of serially uncorrelated income shocks. A less restrictive assumption about the income process would be an MA(1) transitory income shock, in line with labour economics literature (such as MaCurdy, 1982; Abdowd and Card, 1989). In order to gain identification under serially correlated transitory income shocks, we would need further information about the transitory income shocks (the known persistence parameter and the initial level of the transitory income shock), which are not necessarily available. Another limitation is linked to the reliability and information content of the subjective data. This issue, however, is less and less problematic as survey measures improve, partially in response to contributions such as Manski (2004), who stresses the usefulness of using subjective expectations.

Beside its limitations, using income expectations and realizations to identify income shock has obvious advantages. We show that using this method allows us a more indepth study of income shock transmission to consumption, as it allows for the direct observation of income shocks (level identification) as opposed to other strategies (for instance Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston, 2008). With this method, we can also avoid making strong assumptions on the information sets of households, and as a result can interpret income shocks more broadly, as the sum of individual/cohort and aggregate shocks. Therefore, we are confident, that empirical papers based on the methodology proposed by Pistaferri (2001) and explored in this paper can provide new evidence in understanding the link between income shocks and consumption.

References

- Abdowd, John M. and David Card. 1989. "On The Covariance Structure of Earnings and Hours Changes." *Econometrica* 57 (2):411–445.
- Attanasio, Orazio, Agnes Kovacs, and Krisztina Molnar. 2020. "Euler Equations, Subjective Expectations and Income Shocks." *Economica* 87 (346):406–441.
- Attanasio, Orazio P. and Guglielmo Weber. 1993. "Consumption Growth, the Interest Rate and Aggregation." *Review of Economic Studies* 60 (3):631–649.
- Battistin, Erich, Agar Brugiavini, Enrico Rettore, and Guglielmo Weber. 2009. "The Retirement Consumption Puzzle: Evidence from a Regression Discontinuity Approach." *American Economic Review* 99 (5):2209–2226.
- Baugh, Brian, Itzhak Ben-David, Hoonsuk Park, and Jonathan A. Parker. 2021. "Asymmetric Consumption Smoothing." *American Economic Review* 111 (1):192–230.
- Blundell, Richard, Martin Browning, and Costas Meghir. 1994. "Consumer Demand and the Life-Cycle Allocation of Household Expenditures." *Review of Economic Studies* (61):57–80.
- Blundell, Richard, Luigi Pistaferri, and Ian Preston. 2008. "Consumption Inequality and Partial Insurance." *American Economic Review* 98 (5):1887–1921.
- Blundell, Richard and Ian Preston. 1998. "Consumption Inequality and Income Uncertainty." The Quarterly Journal of Economics 113 (2):603–640.
- Bottazzi, Renata, Matthew Wakefield, and Serena Trucchi. 2020. "Consumption responses to a large shock to financial wealth: evidence from Italy." *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 122 (2):762–789.
- Busetti, Fabio and Pietro Cova. 2013. "The macroeconomic impact of the sovereign debt crisis: a counterfactual analysis for the Italian economy." Questioni di Economia e Finanza (Occasional Papers) 201, Bank of Italy, Economic Research and International Relations Area. URL https://ideas.repec.org/p/bdi/opques/qef_201_13.html.
- Caivano, Michele, Lisa Rodano, and Stefano Siviero. 2011. "The Transmission of the Global Financial Crisis to the Italian Economy." *Giornale degli Economisti* 70 (3):1–32.
- Carroll, Christopher D. 1992. "The Buffer-Stock Theory of Saving: Some Macroeconomic Evidence." *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 1992 (2):61–156.

——. 1997. "Buffer-Stock Saving and he Life Cycle/Permanent Income Hypothesis." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 112 (1):1–55.

——. 2009. "Precautionary saving and the marginal propensity to consume out of permanent income." *Journal of Monetary Economics* 56 (6):780–790.

- Carroll, Christopher D. and Andrew A. Samwick. 1997. "The Nature of Precautionary Wealth." *Journal of Monetary Economics* 40 (1):41–71.
- Christellis, Dimitris, Dimitris Georgarakos, Tullio Jappelli, Luigi Pistaferri, and Maarten von Rooij. 2019. "Asymmetric Consumption Effects of Transitory Income Shocks." *The Economic Journal* 622 (129):2322–2341.
- Deaton, Angus. 1991. "Saving and Liquidity Constraints." *Econometrica* 59 (5):1221–1248.
- Dynan, Karen E., Jonathan Skinner, and Stephen P. Zeldes. 2004. "Do the Rich Save More." *Journal of Political Economy* 112 (2):397–444.
- Fulford, Scott L. 2015. "The Surprisingly Low Importance of Income Uncertainty for Precaution." European Economic Review 79:151–171.
- Gourinchas, Pierre-Olivier and Jonathan A. Parker. 2002. "Consumption over the Life Cycle." *Econometrica* 70 (1):47–89.
- Gruber, Jonathan. 2013. "A Tax-Based Estimate of the Elasticity of Intertemporal Substitution." *Quarterly Journal of Finance* 3 (1).
- Gruber, Jonathan and Aaron Yelowitz. 1999. "Public Health Insurance and Private Savings." *Journal of Political Economy* 107 (6):1249–1274.
- Guvenen, Fatih, Serdar Ozkan, and Jae Song. 2014. "The Nature of Countercyclical Income Risk." *Journal of Political Economy* 122 (3):621–660.
- Guvenen, Fatih and Anthony A. Smith. 2014. "Inferring Labor Income Risk And Partial Insurance From Economic Choices." *Econometrica* 82 (6):2085–2129.
- Hayashi, Fumio. 1985. "The Permanent Income Hypothesis and Consumption Durability: Analysis Based on Japanese Panel Data." The Quarterly Journal of Economics 100 (4):1083–1113.
- Hurst, Erik, Annamaria Lusardi, Arthur Kennickell, and Francisco Torralba. 2010. "The Importance of Business Owners in Assessing the Size of Precautionary Savings." The Review of Economics and Statistics 92 (1):61–69.

- Jappelli, Tullio, Mario Padula, and Luigi Pistaferri. 2008. "A Direct Test of The Buffer-Stock Model of Saving." Journal of the European Economic Association 6 (6):1186– 1210.
- Judd, Kenneth. 1998. "Numerical Methods in Economics." *The MIT Press* Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Kaplan, Greg and Giovanni L. Violante. 2010. "How Much Consumption Insurance Beyond Self-Insurance." American Economic Journal: Macroecnomics 2:53–87.
- Kaufmann, Katja and Luigi Pistaferri. 2009. "Disentangling Insurance and Information in Intertemporal Consumption Choices." *American Economic Review* 99 (2):387–92.
- Kimball, Miles S. 1990. "Precautionary Savings in the Small and in the Large." Econometrica 58 (1):53–73.
- Kovacs, Agnes, Hamish Low, and Patrick Moran. 2021. "Estimating Temptation and Commitment Over the Life-Cycle." *International Economic Review* 62 (1):101–139.
- Little, Roderick Joseph A. and Donald B. Rubin. 2002. "Statistical Analysis with Missing Data." 2nd ed. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Ljung, Greta M. and George E.P. Box. 1978. "On a Measure of a Lack of Fit in Time Series Models." *Biometrika* 65:297–303.
- MaCurdy, Thomas E. 1982. "The use of time series processes to model the error structure of earnings in a longitudinal data analysis." *Journal of Econometrics* 18 (1):83–114.
- Malmendier, Ulrike and Stefan Nagel. 2011. "Depression Babies: Do Macroeconomic Experiences Affect Risk Taking?" The Quarterly Journal of Economics 126 (1):373– 416.
- Manski, Charles F. 2004. "Measuring Expectations." *Econometrica* 72 (5):1329–1376.
- Mian, Atif, Kamalesh Rao, and Amir Sufi. 2013. "Household Balance Sheets, Consumption, and the Economic Slump." The Quarterly Journal of Economics 128 (4):1687– 1726.
- Pistaferri, Luigi. 2001. "Superior Information, Income Shocks, And The Permanent Income Hypothesis." The Review of Economics and Statistics 83 (3):465–476.
- Rozsypal, Filip and Kathrin Schlafmann. 2017. "Overpersistence Bias in Individual Income Expectations and its Aggregate Implications." CEPR

Discussion Papers UPDATE 12028, C.E.P.R. Discussion Papers. URL https://ideas.repec.org/p/cpr/ceprdp/12028.html.

- Slacalek, Jiri. 2009. "What Drives Personal Consumption? The Role of Housing and Financial Wealth." The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics 9 (1):1–37.
- Storesletten, Kjetil, Chris I. Telmer, and Amir Yaron. 2004. "Cyclical Dynamics in Idiosyncratic Labor Market Risk." *Journal of Political Economy* 112 (3):695–717.
- Zeldes, Stephen P. 1989. "Optimal Consumption with Stochastic Income: Deviations from Certainty Equivalence." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 104 (2):275–298.

A Appendix: The Macroeconomic Framework

This Section aims to describe the macroeconomic context of our analysis. To this purpose, we illustrate, in Figure A.1, the dynamics of aggregate consumption and income in the Netherlands during the period 2006-2018. After an initial period of growth, the Netherlands experienced two periods of substantial decline in aggregate consumption, indicated by shaded areas on the graph: the 2008-2009 Global Financial Crisis and the 2011-2013 Sovereign Debt Crisis.³¹

Figure A.1: Households' disposable income and consumption in aggregate data



Source: Our calculations based on Eurostat annual data; indices, 2008=100. Consumption is real Household and NPISH (Non-profit institutions serving household) final consumption expenditure. **Notes:** Disposable income is the sum of compensation per employee, gross operating surplus and mixed income deflated with GDP deflator. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

During the 2008-2009 Global Financial Crisis, households' disposable income in the Netherlands shrinks by 3.0% and simultaneously their consumption drops by 1.9%. During the 2011-2012 Sovereign Debt Crisis the fall in disposable income is roughly 1.4%, which coincides with a large 2.1% contraction in aggregate consumption. Income and consumption remain stable in 2014 and 2016 and start increasing at similar growth rates since 2016.

The Consumer Confidence indicator (European Commission) represents a synthetic index to gather information on developments in households' financial situation and expectations (Figure A.2). The indicator for the Netherlands clearly deteriorated around the two crisis (2008-2009 and 2011-2013).

The correlation between the official unemployment rate (Eurostat) and the micro

³¹Crises years are defined as a contraction in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) for two consecutive quarters or longer.

Figure A.2: Consumer Confidence Indicator in the Netherlands



Source: European Commission - Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs (DG ECFIN) through Eurostat.

Notes: Consumer Confidence is the arithmetic mean of the balance series (i.e. the percentage of positive minus the percentage of negative replies) to the following four survey questions: (i) How has the financial situation of your household changed over the last 12 months? (ii) How do you expect the financial position of your household to change over the next 12 months? (iii) How do you expect the general economic situation in this country to develop over the next 12 months? (iv) Compared to the past 12 months, do you expect to spend more or less money on major purchases (furniture, electrical/electronic devices, etc.) over the next 12 months?

(perceived) measure of labour market dynamics as plotted in Figure A.3 appears to be high over the period 2006-2018.



Figure A.3: Perceived and official labour market dynamics

Notes: Total unemployment rate for individuals between 15 and 74 years (Eurostat). Subjective probability of loosing the job is collected in DHS survey through the following question, which is asked to working respondents "What do you think is the probability that you lose your job in the next 12 months?" (right scale).

B Appendix to Section 2

B.1 Sample description

This Section provides a description of the sample selection, which is also summarised in Table B.1. The initial sample consists of 18,856 observations (column 1). They are the household heads and partners aged 21-65 who are interviewed in the period 2006-2018 and are asked questions in the "health and income" module of DHS questionnaire.³² The longitudinal component of this sample, namely individuals who are observed at least twice, consists of 17,520 observations (column 2 in Table B.1). The method we use to calculate transitory and permanent shocks exploits income expectations and realizations. Therefore, we exclude respondents with missing or misreported information on these two dimensions from the sample. First, we exclude respondents who either i) do not report the maximum and/or minimum value of expected income or ii) indicate a maximum value which is higher than the minimum. Column 3 in Table B.1 shows that this selection reduces the sample size to 17,293 observations.³³ Second, we drop missing values in observed income. The panel sample reduces to 16,414 observations, as shown in column 4. The third step excludes respondents giving inconsistent probabilities. More precisely, as explained in Section 2, the interval between the lower and upper bounds of expected income is divided into 5 equal intervals, identified by 4 thresholds. Respondents are asked the probability that their future income will be lower than each threshold. These elicited probabilities are defined to be consistent if they are increasing, namely if the probability that income is lower than t2 is greater than the probability that income is lower than t1 whenever t1 is less than t2. More than 82% of elicited probabilities are consistent, which leads us with a sample of 13,412 observations (column 5 in Table B.1).³⁴ Extreme values in observed and expected income may be a source of concern for the measurement of income shocks, which relies on first differences in expectations or differences between observed and expected income. Since outliers may increase the noise-to-signal ratio, we exclude the top and the bottom 5% of observed and expected income for each year from our sample (this selection is done simultaneously, and not

 $^{^{32}}$ Years prior to 2006 could not be used because of measurement errors in our key variables of interest (observed and expected income). Over the period 2006-2018, DHS collects self-reported income amounts; if the value is not reported, respondents choose among income bracket.

³³Note that this reduction in sample size is due to i) the drop of observations with missing or incorrect responses on lower and upper bounds and ii) the consequent elimination of individuals with reporting this information, but observed only once during the period 2006-18.

³⁴Linear probability estimate for the likelihood of reporting consistent answer shows a significant positive association with male gender and education, the latter possibly capturing numeracy and ability to understand the question. On the contrary, we do not find any statistically significant correlation with job status, financial literacy and financial situation of the households, measured by financial assets and debt. This evidence supports absence of selection into sample according to the knowledge of financial matters and economic conditions.

3.7	T 1/1 1	D 1	D 11	D 10	D 10	T : 1
Year	Initial	Panel	Panel 1:	Panel 2:	Panel 3:	Trimmed:
	sample		expectations	income	probabilities	income
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
2006	1,564	1,509	1,473	1,457	1,220	1,005
2007	$1,\!539$	$1,\!471$	1,442	$1,\!429$	1,182	981
2008	$1,\!365$	$1,\!305$	1,294	$1,\!287$	1,063	871
2009	$1,\!325$	$1,\!245$	1,229	1,221	$1,\!005$	803
2010	$1,\!413$	$1,\!284$	1,258	1,252	1,049	821
2011	$1,\!255$	1,202	1,191	$1,\!179$	920	746
2012	$1,\!273$	$1,\!185$	1,169	$1,\!151$	933	725
2013	$1,\!343$	$1,\!176$	1,162	$1,\!124$	906	689
2014	1,566	$1,\!340$	1,327	1,296	1,030	833
2015	1,533	$1,\!399$	$1,\!389$	$1,\!182$	921	763
2016	1,536	1,412	1,402	$1,\!175$	878	734
2017	$1,\!656$	1,576	$1,\!555$	$1,\!296$	1,071	838
2018	$1,\!488$	1,416	$1,\!402$	$1,\!365$	1,234	861
m (1	10.050	15 500	15 000	10 41 4	10 410	10.670
Total	18,856	11.520	17.293	10,414	13,412	10.670

Table B.1: Sample Selection

Notes: Initial sample: Household heads and partner aged 21-65 who respond to the income module in DHS questionnaire. Panel sample: Individuals in the longitudinal sample. Panel sample 1: Individuals in the longitudinal sample who i) report upper and lower bound in expectations and ii) whose upper bound is greater than the lower bound. Panel sample 2: Longitudinal sample of respondents who report observed income. Panel sample 3: Longitudinal sample after 5% trimming on observed and expected income.

sequentially, on both expected and observed income). As shown in column 6, we end up with a sample of 10,670 individuals.

Following the strategy illustrated in Section 3, we use income realization, income expectation and its lagged value to measure 5,490 income shocks.³⁵ Descriptive statistics for this sample are illustrated in Table B.2. The average age of the respondents is around 50 and households are composed of less than three members of which about 2 are adults. Roughly 70% of respondents work and 7% are retired. There is also significant heterogeneity in terms of education: medium-educated respondents and those having attended vocational schools represent about 40% and 20% of the sample, respectively.

Monthly and Annual Values of Expected Income.

Wording of questions in the DNB Household Survey are, unfortunately, not homogeneous across waves. To our purpose, a relevant variation concerns questions eliciting subjective income expectations. While after 2007, they explicitly refer to 'annual' income, the

 $^{^{35}}$ After the simultaneous trimming of the top and bottom 5% in the permanent and transitory income shocks. The main patterns illustrated in Figures 1 and 4 are confirmed after a 1% trimming.

Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.
Permanent shock	0.010	0.195
Transitory shock	0.020	0.213
Δ Transitory shock	-0.012	0.186
Observed income (in \in)	31161.58	11990.44
Expected future income (in \in)	30853.04	12101.65
Forecast error	-0.030	0.263
Age	49.133	10.967
No. household members	2.477	1.339
No. adults	1.719	0.51
Job status:		
Work	0.692	0.462
Retired	0.069	0.253
Unemployed	0.031	0.174
Education:		
No education	0.029	0.168
Low education	0.210	0.407
Middle education	0.396	0.489
Vocational education	0.216	0.412
University education	0.144	0.351

Table B.2: Descriptive statistics

Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018; 5,490 identified transitory and permanent shocks. Weighted values computed using sample weights. Real values (euros 2010) are computed using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). Permanent and transitory shocks are calculated following the method described in Section 3. Forecast error is defined as $\mathbb{E}[y_{it}|\Omega_{t-1}] - y_{it}$, where y_{it} is the log of the observed income and $\mathbb{E}[y_{it}|\Omega_{t-1}]$ is the log of expected income for time t conditional on the information set available at time t - 1, as described in Section 3.1.

time frame they refer to is more ambiguous for years 2003-2007. The exact wording of questions since 2008 is: 'We would like to know a little bit more about what you expect will happen to the net income of your household in the next 12 months. What do you expect to be the lowest total net yearly income your household may realize in the next 12 months? What do you expect to be the highest total net yearly income your household may realize in the next 12 months?'.

In waves 2003-2007, the questions are: 'We would like to know a little bit more about what you expect will happen to the net income of your household in the next 12 months. What do you expect to be the lowest total net monthly income your household may realize in the next 12 months? What do you expect to be the highest total net income your household may realize in the next 12 months?'. The introductory statement refers to a time span of 12 months. The question, instead, refers to i) monthly income when eliciting the lower bound of the distribution and to ii) any time frame when asking about the upper bound. In this sense, responses to those questions could be expressed either in annual or monthly terms.³⁶

To tackle this issue, we derive information on the relevant time frame for responses in period 2006-2007 by exploiting responses in waves when the reference to annual income is unambiguous. This approach is in the same spirit of imputation methods to tackle missing values described by Little and Rubin (2002), and exploit the panel structure of the sample to derive additional information for the period 2006-2007. We proceed by steps, as described hereafter.

- 1. For each respondent, we use waves when questions unambiguously refer to annual income, i.e. year 1998-2002 and 2008-2018, and we calculate subjective expectations about the lower and the upper bounds of annual income. We, then, compute their average expected values for this period. This household specific 'average lower/upper bound for annual income' may depend on observable variables (family composition, education, etc.) and unobservables (ability of household members, optimism/pessimism of the respondent, information available to the respondent but not to the econometrician, etc.).
- 2. We, then, estimate the lower/upper bound for expected income in each specific year. We use as regressors the household specific mean of subjective expectations described in point 1, aimed to capture household specific information and expectations, along with other individual and household characteristics, aimed to capture

³⁶Between 1998-2002, the question refers to total net income. It reads as "We would like to know a little bit more about what you expect will happen to the net income of your household in the next 12 months": What do you expect to be the LOWEST total net income your household may realize in the next 12 months What do you expect to be the HIGHEST total net income your household may realize in the next 12 months?"

both heterogeneity of expected income over the life-cycle and time-specific events which may affect expectations. More precisely, we use the pooled sample for the period 2006-2018 and we regress the logarithm of expected income on the 'average lower/upper bound for annual income', observed net household income, age, the number of workers in the couple, whether the respondent is working, and two dummies derived from a qualitative question about subjective expectations and capturing, respectively, whether the respondent does not expect any significant change in income or whether she expects an income increase.³⁷ Estimate results are shown in Table B.3. The lower (upper) bound is positively associated with the log mean lower (upper) bound and the log of observed income.

3. We use the estimated 'typical lower/upper bound for expected income' to identify respondents who report the upper and lower bound of expected *monthly* income in waves 2006-2007. More precisely, we assume that the upper/lower bounds refer to monthly income when the reported value for these bounds is lower than 20% of the expected annual income. We have experimented with different values for this percentage, however the results seemed to be unchanged.

Timing.

An important aspect to be discussed is the time period which our collected survey information refers to. First of all, we consider a time span of one year, since both questions on observed and expected income refer to a 12 months period. Identification of transitory shocks requires computing the difference $y_{it} - E[y_{it+1}|\Omega_t]$, as shown in equation 4. Since the DHS questionnaire measures y_{it} as observed household income earned in the previous calendar year, expected income should be ideally elicited on January 1st (and referring to the coming calendar year). The gap between the date of the interview and the beginning of the year is, thus, a source of time discrepancy. In our sample, this issue is mitigated by the fact that more than two thirds of interviews are run between weeks 10 and 18, and only 8% of respondents reply after week 30. In our baseline measure of income shock, we implicitly assume that no shock has occurred within this time span (January 1st and time of the interview). However, we also measure income shocks i) including only respondents with a time discrepancy lower than 18 weeks

³⁷More precisely, we exploit the following question: "As a consequence of what changes (listed below) do you expect the total net yearly income of your household to change in the next 12 months? (More than one answer possible). a) A member of the household who currently has a job, will stop working, b) a member of the household who is currently out of work, will start working, c) a member of the household will change jobs, d) a member of the household will get a promotion e) social security (welfare) benefits (if any) that the household now receives will significantly go up f) social security (welfare) benefits (if any) that the household now receives will significantly go down/other changes g) I don't expect any significant changes in the next 12 months h) none of the above".

	Lower bound	Upper bound
Ln(mean lower bound)	1.063***	
	(0.012)	
Ln(mean upper bound)		0.929^{***}
		(0.011)
Ln(income observed)	0.247^{***}	0.249^{***}
	(0.013)	(0.012)
Age	0.004^{***}	0.002^{*}
	(0.001)	(0.001)
Nb. workers in couple	-0.115^{***}	-0.085***
	(0.033)	(0.030)
Working	0.077^{***}	0.096^{***}
	(0.029)	(0.027)
No significant changes in income expected	0.078^{***}	0.076^{***}
	(0.029)	(0.026)
Positive reasons for change in income	0.148^{***}	0.148^{***}
	(0.051)	(0.046)
Constant	-3.591^{***}	-2.140***
	(0.161)	(0.151)
Year dummies	Yes	Yes
No. obs.	20475	20487

Table B.3: Estimates of (log of) lower/upper bound of expected income

Notes: *p < 0.1, **p < 0.05, ***p < 0.01. Coefficients, standard error in parenthesis. Our calculations from DHS data. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS).

and ii) using a 'corrected' measure of observed income, which is meant to be consistent with expected income by measuring observed income realizations during the 12 months preceding the interview.³⁸ Figure B.4 shows that the distribution of observed income (referred to the previous year) and the distribution of 'corrected' household income (referring to the 12 months before the month of the interview) are broadly comparable. Permanent shocks, instead, hinge on a measure of change in subjective expectation, e.g. $E[y_{it+1}|\Omega_t] - E[y_{it}|\Omega_{t-1}]$ (see equation 5). Time discrepancy, in this case, refers to the moment when subjective expectations are retrieved, in two subsequent waves. This discrepancy is less than one week in one third of cases, while it is lower than four weeks in the large majority of interviews (almost 60%).

B.2 The dynamics of observed and expected income

To interpret the dynamics of observed and expected income in Figure 1 we regress the real forecast error on standard demographic variables and income quartiles. Table B.4 shows that households in the highest income quartile have on average a forecast error which is 3.4 percentage points more positive compared to households in the third income quartile. At the same time, people in the lowest income group underestimate their income growth by 4.1 percentage points more than people in the third income

³⁸For instance, if the survey is run during week 10 of year 2010, we construct 'corrected' income as a weighted average of observed income in 2010 and 2009, where the weight for the first component is given by the incidence of income 2010 in the calculation of income in the previous 12 months (i.e. 10 weeks out of 52). In this case, $y_{corr} = (10 * y_{2010} + (52 - 10) * y_{2009})/52$.

	Real forecast error
Age	0.002
	(0.005)
Age sq.	-0.000
	(0.000)
N.hh members	-0.007*
	(0.004)
N. adults	-0.004
	(0.011)
Work	-0.006
	(0.011)
Retired	-0.020
	(0.019)
Unemployed	0.009
	(0.026)
No education	0.038
	(0.048)
Low education	0.031
	(0.042)
High education	0.034
	(0.041)
Vocational education	0.018
TT	(0.042)
University education	0.029
1	(0.042)
1st quartile	-0.041***
0.1	(0.013)
2nd quartile	-0.025***
4.1	(0.009)
4th quartile	0.034^{***}
0	(0.010)
Constant	-0.040
	(0.117)

Table B.4: OLS of forecast errors on household characteristics

Notes: p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01. Estimates from DHS data for the period 2007 – 18 (we rely on wave 2006 to compute forecast error in 2007). Number of observations: 4926. Standard errors are in parenthesis. Income quartiles at time t are defined on the income distribution at time t - 1.

quartile.

To illustrate these results visually, we follow the exercise by Rozsypal and Schlafmann (2017) and plot mean forecast errors by income quartile together with the forecast errors predicted by the regression when all other regressors are at their sample mean. Results are presented in Figure B.1 and confirm the systematic relationship between forecast errors and income groups. While low income households underestimate their income growth, high income households are too optimistic and overestimate their income growth. In particular, households in the lowest income quartile underestimate their income growth by 5 percentage points, while people in the highest income quartile overestimate it by 2 percentage points.





Notes: The Figure shows the unconditional mean forecast error (dash line) and predicted forecast error (solid line) in real income growth by income quartiles. Predicted forecast errors are based on regression results from Table B.4. Predicted values are computed for all other explanatory variables at the weighted sample mean.

B.3 Additional features of income

Figure B.2: Correlation between self-reported net household income and wage



Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Scatter points represent observations per household-year. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). The estimated regression line is $\ln y = 0.922 + 1.065 \ln x$. The coefficients are significant at the 1% level and the null assumption that the coefficient of $\ln(x)$ is equal to one cannot be rejected at standard levels of significance.





Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS).

Figure B.4: Kernel densities of logarithm of observed and corrected income



Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS).

	Expected hh income
Prob. unempl [*] work	-22.684***
	(3.855)
Prob. find job*unempl.	-0.262 (11.285)
Unemployed	-2473.125***
	(559.866)
Hh income	0.862***
Constant	(0.008) -2364.527
	(1840.968)
Other controls	Yes

Table B.5: Expectations on income and job status

Notes: ${}^{*}p < 0.1$, ${}^{**}p < 0.05$, ${}^{***}p < 0.01$. Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). Number of observations: 4345, referring to individuals reporting a non missing probability of finding a job or to be unemployed. Other control variables are: age, age squared, no. members, no. children, education and year dummies. Mean expected household income in the sample is 33,394.

C Appendix to Section 3

C.1 Identification of Income Shocks

We assume the following standard decomposition of the log of income process (Pistaferri, 2001; Blundell, Pistaferri, and Preston, 2008):

$$y_{it} = \Pi' Z_{it} + \alpha' V_i + p_{it} + \varepsilon_{it} \tag{C.1}$$

where Z_{it} is a deterministic time variant component of income and $\alpha' V_i$ is a deterministic time invariant one (e.g. it includes gender, education and household fixed effect). p_{it} and ε_{it} are, respectively, the permanent and transitory component of income of household *i* at time *t*. The permanent component is a Markov process:

$$p_{it} = p_{it-1} + \zeta_{it} \tag{C.2}$$

where ζ_{it} is the permanent shock. ε_{it} and ζ_{it} are assumed to be not autocorrelated and orthogonal among each other at all lags and leads.

As it is shown in Pistaferri (2001), combining equations (C.1) and (C.2) we can obtain the following equation for the change in income:

$$\Delta y_{it} = \Pi' \Delta Z_{it} + \zeta_{it} + \Delta \varepsilon_{it} \tag{C.3}$$

Under the assumption that the deterministic component of the evolution of income is a second order polynomial of age. i.e. $\Pi' Z_{it} = \pi_0 + \pi_1 age_{it} + \pi_2 age_{it}^2$, equation (C.3) can be rewritten as:

$$\Delta y_{it} = (\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 age_{it}) + \zeta_{it} + \Delta \varepsilon_{it} \tag{C.4}$$

where $\gamma_0 = (\pi_1 - \pi_2)$ and $\gamma_1 = 2\pi_2$.

Rewriting equation (C.4) and exploiting the assumption of rational expectations, we can derive the following expression for the transitory shock:

$$\varepsilon_{it} = -E[\Delta y_{it+1}|\Omega_t] + (\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 age_{it+1}) =$$

$$y_{it} - E[y_{it+1}|\Omega_t] + (\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 age_{it+1})$$
(C.5)

Substituting this expression in equation (C.4), we identify the permanent income shock as:

$$\zeta = E[y_{it+1}|\Omega_t] - E[y_{it}|\Omega_{t-1}] - (\gamma_0 + \gamma_1 age_{it+1})$$
(C.6)

where Ω_t is the set of information available to household *i* at time *t*, and coefficients γ_0

and γ_1 are function of parameters π_1 and π_2 . We can interpret the transitory shock ε_{it} as the gap between current income and the expected income for next period, given the information available at time t. The permanent shock ζ_{it} is measured by the revision in subjective income expectations with respect to the previous period (t-1).

Figure C.1: Permanent and transitory shocks/ income in t-1



Notes: Our calculations from DHS data for the period 2006-2018. Shock are reported as percentage with respect to income in previous year. Weighted average computed using sample weights. Real values (euros 2010) are calculated using annual consumer price indices from Statistics Netherlands (CBS). Permanent and transitory shocks are calculated following the method described in Section 3. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

D Appendix to Section 4

D.1 Standardization of the Model with CRRA preferences

The number of state variables of in the problem can be reduced from two $(X_{i,c,t}, P_{i,c,t})$ to one $\left(\frac{X_{i,c,t}}{P_{i,c,t}}\right)$. At terminal age t = T the value function becomes

$$V_{i,c,T}(X_{i,c,T}, P_{i,c,T}) = \frac{C_{i,c,T}^{1-\rho}}{1-\rho},$$

With standardized variables, using notation $x_{i,c,T} = \frac{X_{i,c,T}}{P_{i,c,T}}$ and $c_{i,c,T} = \frac{C_{i,c,T}}{P_{i,c,T}}$, the value function can be written as

$$V_{i,c,T}(x_{i,c,T}) = U(c_{i,c,T}) = U\left(\frac{C_{i,c,T}}{P_{i,c,T}}\right) = \frac{\left(\frac{C_{i,c,T}}{P_{i,c,T}}\right)^{1-\rho}}{1-\rho}$$

Hence the value function with standardized variables can be rewritten as

$$V_{i,T}(x_{i,c,T}) = \frac{1}{(P_{i,c,T})^{1-\rho}} \left[\frac{C_{i,c,T}^{1-\rho}}{1-\rho} \right]$$

Therefore the relationship between the original and standardized value functions is:

$$V_{i,c,T}(X_{i,c,T}, P_{i,c,T}) = P_{i,c,T}^{1-\rho} V_{i,c,T}(x_{i,c,T})$$

Now considering the value function at age t = T - 1:

$$V_{i,c,T-1}(X_{i,c,T-1}, P_{i,c,T-1}) = \max_{C_{i,c,T-1}} \{ U(C_{i,c,T-1}) + E_{i,c,T-1} \beta V_{i,c,T}(X_{i,c,T}, P_{i,c,T}) \}$$

$$= (P_{i,c,T-1})^{1-\rho} \max_{c_{i,c,T-1}} \left\{ U(c_{i,c,T-1}) + E_{i,c,T-1} \left[\beta \left(\frac{P_{i,c,T}}{P_{i,c,T-1}} \right)^{1-\rho} V_{i,c,T}(x_{i,c,T}) \right] \right\}$$

And similarly to the previous result, the simple relationship we get is

$$V_{i,c,T-1}(X_{i,c,T-1}, P_{i,c,T-1}) = P_{i,c,T-1}^{1-\rho} V_{i,c,T-1}(x_{i,c,T-1})$$

It can be shown that this relationship holds at a generic time t, hence the value function and the standardized value function at any point in time only differ by a scale factor. It is equivalent to maximize either function.

D.2 Gauss-Hermite Approximation

Since we assume that the innovations to income are log-normally distributed random variables in each period, we are able to use a two-dimensional Gauss-Hermite quadrature to approximate the expectations as follows:

$$\mathbb{E}_{t}V_{t+1}(x_{t+1}) = \int V_{t+1}\left(x_{t+1}(\varepsilon,\zeta)\right) dF(\varepsilon) dF(\zeta)$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\pi} V_{t+1}\left(x_{t+1}\left(\sqrt{2}\sigma_{\varepsilon}\varepsilon,\sqrt{2}\sigma_{\zeta}\zeta\right)\right) e^{-(\varepsilon^{2}+\zeta^{2})} d\varepsilon d\zeta$$

$$\approx \sum_{j \otimes k} \frac{1}{\pi} w_{j}^{GH} w_{k}^{GH} V_{i,t+1}\left(x_{t+1}\left(\sqrt{2}\sigma_{\varepsilon}\varepsilon_{j}^{GH},\sqrt{2}\sigma_{\zeta}\zeta_{k}^{GH}\right)\right)$$
 (D.1)

where ε_{j}^{GH} and ζ_{k}^{GH} are the Gauss-Hermite nodes, while w_{j}^{GH} and w_{k}^{GH} are the corresponding weights as shown in Judd (1998) or in Gourinchas and Parker (2002).

D.3 Cohort-Specific Income Shocks and Variances

Cohort	$\mu_{\zeta,c}$	$\mu_{arepsilon,c}$	$\sigma^2_{\zeta,c}$	$\sigma^2_{\varepsilon,c}$
1980 ≤	0.0064	-0.0019	0.0460	0.0293
1975 - 1979	0.0136	0.0236	0.0380	0.0452
1970 - 1974	0.0002	0.0368	0.0341	0.0669
1965 - 1969	0.0043	0.0387	0.0356	0.0625
1960 - 1964	0.0154	0.0274	0.0344	0.0592
1955 - 1959	0.0020	0.0233	0.0384	0.0432
1950 - 1954	-0.0024	0.0269	0.0407	0.0357
1945 - 1949	0.0049	0.0447	0.0346	0.0662
1940 - 1944	0.0009	0.1022	0.0367	0.1535
1935 - 1939	0.0009	0.1022	0.0367	0.1535

Table D.1: Income shocks and variances by cohort

Notes: All shocks and corresponding variances are calculated by using the identified individual shocks from Section 3 and following the procedure outlined in Section 4.2.

ear	$1980 \leq$	1975 - 1979	1970 - 1974	1965 - 1969	1960 - 1964	1955 - 1959	1950 - 1954	1945 - 1949	1940 - 1944	1935 - 1939
004	0	0	-0.0775	-0.0320	0.0163	0.0017	-0.0405	-0.0251	0.0285	0
005	0	0	-0.0576	-0.0149	-0.0033	-0.0375	-0.0371	-0.0513	-0.0315	0
900	0	0.0146	0.0161	0.0350	0.0209	-0.0105	-0.0306	0.0299	-0.0006	0
200	0	-0.0505	0.0100	-0.0259	0.0044	0.0526	0.0204	0.0076	0.0249	0
008	0	0.1290	0.0603	0.0738	0.0461	0.0242	0.0900	0.0537	0	0
600	0	0.0036	-0.0275	0.0044	-0.0005	-0.0095	0.0075	0.0100	0	0
010	0	-0.0063	0.0039	-0.0265	0.0188	0.0404	0.0202	0.0170	0	0
011	0	0.0407	0.0271	0.0178	0.0358	0.0268	0.0188	0.0418	0	0
012	0	-0.0122	-0.0410	-0.1058	-0.0293	-0.0012	-0.0511	-0.0383	0	0
013	0	-0.0122	-0.0434	-0.0373	-0.0457	-0.0434	-0.0027	-0.0654	0	0
)14	-0.0344	-0.0166	0.0005	0.0175	0.0120	-0.0176	-0.0305	0	0	0
015	0.0006	-0.0126	0.0009	0.0399	-0.0026	-0.0130	0.0035	0	0	0
016	0.0624	0.0398	0.0053	0.0444	0.0530	0.0178	-0.0160	0	0	0
017	-0.0165	-0.0135	0.0150	0.0169	0.0445	-0.0204	0.0140	0	0	0
)18	0.0190	0.0446	0.0441	0.0322	0.0430	0.0218	-0.0121	0	0	0

Table D.2: Permanent income shocks by cohort and year $(\mu_{\zeta,c,t})$

Vhen	hort	
4.2. V	the co	
tion 4	Vhen	
in Sec	= 0. V	
lined	$t_{\zeta,c,t} =$	
re out	set μ	
npeoc	o, and	t = 0.
he pr	is zer	$g \mu_{\zeta,c}$
wing t	/ face	settin
l follo	ts they	re by
3 and	shoch	anymo
ection	lcome	ocks a
om Se	the ir	me sh
ocks fr	rerage	e inco
al sho	on av	tot fac
dividu	e that	t do n
ied in	mssam	cohor
dentif	, we a	n the
the i	ohorts	iolds i
using	gest co	louseh
ed by	young	that h
lculat	or the	sume
are ce	tion f	we as
hocks	oserva	ment,
All s	i no ol	retirei
Notes:	we have	reaches

1935 - 1939	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1940 - 1944	0.0619	0.1470	0.0914	0.0897	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1945 - 1949	0.0582	0.1686	0.0909	0.0469	0.0040	-0.0112	0.0143	0.0081	0.0189	0.0597	0	0	0	0	0
1950 - 1954	0.0386	0.1259	0.0455	0.0495	0.0046	-0.0112	0.0055	-0.0099	0.0330	0.0576	0.0005	0.0092	0.0479	0.0078	-0.0345
1955 - 1959	-0.0135	0.1230	0.1034	0.0122	0.0140	0.0056	-0.0262	-0.0130	-1.73e-	-0.0101	0.0226	0.0169	0.0230	0.0157	-0.0208
1960 - 1964	0.0310	0.0861	0.1699	0.0739	0.0203	-0.0050	-0.0029	-0.0232	0.0276	0.0370	0.0070	0.0104	-0.0061	-0.0155	-0.0478
1965 - 1969	0.0609	0.2215	0.1041	0.0464	-0.0218	0.0369	0.0379	-0.0046	0.0427	0.0172	0.0103	-0.0057	0.0032	0.0168	-0.0492
1970 - 1974	0.0685	0.1681	0.127	0.0631	0.0146	0.0050	0.0216	-0.0152	0.0030	0.0624	0.0242	-0.0130	0.0034	-0.0011	-0.0347
1975 - 1979	0	0	0.1457	0.1058	-0.0069	-0.0288	-0.0055	0.0028	0.0325	0.0325	0.0418	0.0259	0.0215	0.0078	-0.0573
$1980 \leq$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.0358	0.0216	0.0660	0.0180	-0.0657
Year	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018

$(\mu_{\varepsilon,c,t})$
und year
cohort ε
by
shocks
income
Transitory
Table D.3:

Notes: All shocks are calculated by using the identified individual shocks from Section 3 and following the procedure outlined in Section 4.2. When we have no observation for the youngest cohorts, we assume that on average the income shocks they face is zero, and set $\mu_{\varepsilon,c,t} = 0$. When the cohort reaches retirement, we assume that households in the cohort do not face income shocks anymore by setting $\mu_{\varepsilon,c,t} = 0$.

-						F F 60 0		0.0997	90600	0
0.4 0.	.0481	0.0364	0.0400	0.0286	0.0159	0.0211	0.0363	1000.0	0860.0	0
005 0.	.0481	0.0364	0.0462	0.0434	0.0438	0.0291	0.0376	0.0324	0.0551	0
0.000	.0481	0.0351	0.0259	0.0252	0.0385	0.0363	0.0388	0.0297	0.0201	0
0.7 0.	.0481	0.0284	0.0246	0.0330	0.0209	0.0259	0.0354	0.0312	0.0295	0
0.800.	.0481	0.0631	0.0274	0.0413	0.0395	0.0603	0.0496	0.0356	0.0295	0
0 600	.0481	0.0507	0.0371	0.0290	0.0397	0.0333	0.0278	0.0323	0	0
010 0.	.0481	0.0587	0.0479	0.0353	0.0307	0.0504	0.0685	0.0351	0	0
0.11	.0481	0.0319	0.0451	0.0323	0.0281	0.0398	0.0461	0.0271	0	0
0.12 0.	.0481	0.0319	0.0248	0.0456	0.0345	0.0460	0.0428	0.0401	0	0
0.13 0.	.0481	0.0327	0.0453	0.0385	0.0377	0.0405	0.0377	0.0535	0	0
0.14 0.	6690.	0.0209	0.0198	0.0284	0.0376	0.0505	0.0357	0	0	0
0.15 0.	.0380	0.0283	0.0329	0.0353	0.0350	0.0421	0.0331	0	0	0
0.16 0.	.0462	0.0369	0.0373	0.0240	0.0398	0.0353	0.0534	0	0	0
0.17 0.	.0408	0.0273	0.0297	0.0278	0.0266	0.0363	0.0223	0	0	0
0.18 0.	.0454	0.0264	0.0282	0.0402	0.0351	0.0323	0.0245	0	0	0

$\left(\sum_{s,c,t}^{2}\right)$
$\widehat{\rho}$
year
and
cohort
by
ariances
SV 3
shock
income
rmanent
Pe
e D.4:
Tabl

I															
1935 - 1939	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
40 - 1944	398	113	239	275	275										
949 19.	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1945 - 1	0.0288	0.2215	0.1400	0.0789	0.0271	0.0067	0.0292	0.0210	0.0260	0.0210	0	0	0	0	0
950 - 1954	.0201	.1719	.0443	.0306	.0234	.0052	.0206	.0139	.0217	.0334	.0187	.0265	.0284	.0156	.0249
955 - 1959 1	.0146 0.	.1455 0.	.1242 0.	0.0258 0.	0.0228 0.	.0117 0.	0.0173 0.	0.0162 0.	.0291 0.	0.0133 0.	0.0162 0.	.0155 0.	0.0243 0.	.0199 0.	.0308 0.
1960 - 1964 1	0.0166 0	0.0949 0	0.3107 0	0.0979 0	0.0231 0	0.0113 0	0.0253 (0.0185 0	0.0236 (0.0294 0	0.0133 0	0.0191 0	0.0125 0	0.0216 0	0.0184 0
1965 - 1969	0.0199	0.3451	0.1271	0.0272	0.0348	0.0122	0.0126	0.0156	0.0224	0.0237	0.0116	0.0061	0.0146	0.0138	0.0176
1970 - 1974	0.0303	0.2256	0.2599	0.0819	0.0265	0.0127	0.0328	0.0128	0.0120	0.0238	0.0132	0.0154	0.0222	0.0187	0.0145
1975 - 1979	0.0401	0.0401	0.2462	0.0418	0.0191	0.0153	0.0117	0.0178	0.0178	0.0266	0.0184	0.0213	0.0359	0.0252	0.0237
$1980 \leq$	0.0285	0.0285	0.0285	0.0285	0.0285	0.0285	0.0285	0.0285	0.0285	0.0285	0.0239	0.0291	0.0398	0.0247	0.0247
Year	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018

		_	_	
			+	5
0		5	2	υ ν
		VPAL		\$
		a n c	DIID	
	-	CODOT		
	-	2	2	\$
	•	V 9 Y 19 N C C		
	-	Shock	ADD TTO	
		amooni		
		ancitory	A TONTATION	\$
	E		-	
	2	<u>,</u>	5	
	Ē		TUDE	

Notes: All shock variances are calculated based on the identified income shocks in Section 3. When we have no observation for the youngest cohorts, we assume that the variance of their income shocks is the same as what we first observe for these cohorts. When the cohort reaches retirement, we assume no income shocks and hence no income shock variances either.

D.5 Model Parameters

Paramet	er	Value	Source
$\begin{array}{c} T\\ W\\ \beta\\ Constant\\ Age\\ Age^2/10\\ a \end{array}$	Number of years as adult Number of years as worker Discount factor Age-spec income, constant Age-spec income, linear trend Age-spec income, quadratic trend Replacement rate	60 45 0.95 8.668 0.058 -0.001 0.6	Gourinchas and Parker (2002) Own calculations, DHS Own calculations, DHS Own calculations, DHS Own calculations, DHS
R^X	Liquid asset return	1.005	Own calculations, Euribor

Table D.6: Parameters for the baseline model

Notes: Risk-aversion parameter, ρ , is not shown in the table as it is calibrated internally, by targeting observed aggregate consumption profile between 2006 and 2018. Our best calibration is to set $\rho = 0.5$. It shows a relatively low measure of risk aversion, but is in line with the finding by Gruber (2013) or more recently by Kovacs, Low, and Moran (2021).

E Appendix to Section 5

E.1 Simulation Results

Figure E.1: Simulated consumption profile: the effect of the risk aversion parameter



Notes: We simulate our model for different values of the risk aversion parameter, ρ , in order to get the closest fit of the simulated aggregated consumption to the observed aggregate consumption path. We create consumption indices by using 2008 as the base year (2008=100). Aggregate consumption (from Eurostat) is real Household and NPISH (non-profit institutions serving household) final consumption expenditure. Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

Figure E.2: Simulated consumption profile: observed shocks perceived as transitory



Notes: Both the baseline and the counterfactual model is simulated under parameter settings listed in Table D.6 and risk aversion parameter of $\rho = 0.5$. The counterfactual model assumes that all the shocks are perceived by households as transitory. We calculate aggregate consumption in both models by simulating cohort-level consumption profiles and aggregate them using appropriate cohort weights (representative of the Dutch population). We then create a consumption index by using 2008 as the base year (2008=100). Aggregate consumption (from Eurostat) is real Household and NPISH (non-profit institutions serving household) final consumption expenditure.



Figure E.3: Simulated savings behavior in different models

Notes: We compare the average savings behavior of households in our baseline model with precautionary saving motive to a model where we shut down the precautionary saving channel (second counterfactual simulation in Section 5.2). The graph shows the fraction of savings under no precautionary saving relative to savings under the precautionary saving motive present. We create consumption indices by using 2008 as the base year (2008=100). Shaded area indicates crisis periods.

RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (*)

- N. 1333 *Population aging, relative prices and capital flows across the globe,* by Andrea Papetti (April 2021).
- N.1334 *What drives investors to chase returns?*, by Jonathan Huntley, Valentina Michelangeli and Felix Reichling (April 2021).
- N. 1335 *Managerial talent and managerial practices: are they complements?*, by Audinga Baltrunaite, Giulia Bovini and Sauro Mocetti (April 2021).
- N. 1336 Volatility bursts: a discrete-time option model with multiple volatility components, by Francesca Lilla (June 2021).
- N.1337 A liquidity risk early warning indicator for Italian banks: a machine learning approach, by Maria Ludovica Drudi and Stefano Nobili (June 2021).
- N.1338 Macroprudential policy analysis via an agent based model of the real estate sector, by Gennaro Catapano, Francesco Franceschi, Michele Loberto and Valentina Michelangeli (June 2021).
- N.1339 Optimal robust monetary policy with parameters and output gap uncertainty, by Adriana Grasso and Guido Traficante (June 2021).
- N.1340 Information or persuasion in the mortgage market: the role of brand names, by Agnese Carella and Valentina Michelangeli (June 2021).
- N.1341 *The grocery trolley race in times of Covid-19: evidence from Italy*, by Emanuela Ciapanna and Gabriele Rovigatti (June 2021).
- N.1342 When the panic broke out: COVID-19 and investment funds' portfolio rebalancing around the world, by Massimiliano Affinito and Raffaele Santioni (July 2021).
- N.1343 *Firm-bank linkages and optimal policies in a lockdown*, by Anatoli Segura and Alonso Villacorta (July 2021).
- N. 1344 The case for a positive euro area inflation target: evidence from France, Germany and Italy, by Klaus Adam, Erwan Gautier, Sergio Santoro and Henning Weber (October 2021).
- N.1345 *The impact of Chinese import competition on Italian manufacturing*, by Luca Citino and Andrea Linarello (October 2021).
- N. 1346 Business cycle synchronization or business cycle transmission? The effect of the German slowdown on the Italian economy, by Alessandro Mistretta (October 2021).
- N. 1347 The IRB approach and bank lending to firms, by Raffaele Gallo (October 2021).
- N.1348 *Can capital controls promote green investments in developing countries?*, by Alessandro Moro (October 2021).
- N.1349 The real effects of bank supervision: evidence from on-site bank inspections, by Andrea Passalacqua, Paolo Angelini, Francesca Lotti and Giovanni Soggia (October 2021).
- N. 1350 Intergenerational transmission in regulated professions and the role of familism, by Omar Bamieh and Andrea Cintolesi (October 2021).
- N.1351 Revisiting the case for a fiscal union: the federal fiscal channel of downside-risk sharing in the United States, by Luca Rossi (October 2021).
- N. 1352 Collateral in bank lending during the financial crises: a borrower and a lender story, by Massimiliano Affinito, Fabiana Sabatini and Massimiliano Stacchini (October 2021).
- N.1353 Does information about current inflation affect expectations and decisions? Another look at Italian firms, by Alfonso Rosolia (October 2021).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- ALBANESE G., M. CIOFFI and P. TOMMASINO, *Legislators' behaviour and electoral rules: evidence from an Italian reform,* European Journal of Political Economy, v. 59, pp. 423-444, WP 1135 (September 2017).
- APRIGLIANO V., G. ARDIZZI and L. MONTEFORTE, Using the payment system data to forecast the economic activity, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 15, 4, pp. 55-80, WP 1098 (February 2017).
- ARNAUDO D., G. MICUCCI, M. RIGON and P. ROSSI, *Should I stay or should I go? Firms' mobility across banks in the aftermath of the financial crisis,* Italian Economic Journal / Rivista italiana degli economisti, v. 5, 1, pp. 17-37, **WP 1086 (October 2016).**
- BASSO G., F. D'AMURI and G. PERI, *Immigrants, labor market dynamics and adjustment to shocks in the euro area*, IMF Economic Review, v. 67, 3, pp. 528-572, WP 1195 (November 2018).
- BATINI N., G. MELINA and S. VILLA, *Fiscal buffers, private debt, and recession: the good, the bad and the ugly,* Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 62, **WP 1186 (July 2018).**
- BURLON L., A. NOTARPIETRO and M. PISANI, *Macroeconomic effects of an open-ended asset purchase programme,* Journal of Policy Modeling, v. 41, 6, pp. 1144-1159, WP 1185 (July 2018).
- BUSETTI F. and M. CAIVANO, *Low frequency drivers of the real interest rate: empirical evidence for advanced economies*, International Finance, v. 22, 2, pp. 171-185, **WP 1132 (September 2017).**
- CAPPELLETTI G., G. GUAZZAROTTI and P. TOMMASINO, *Tax deferral and mutual fund inflows: evidence from a quasi-natural experiment*, Fiscal Studies, v. 40, 2, pp. 211-237, **WP 938 (November 2013).**
- CARDANI R., A. PACCAGNINI and S. VILLA, *Forecasting with instabilities: an application to DSGE models with financial frictions*, Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 61, WP 1234 (September 2019).
- CHIADES P., L. GRECO, V. MENGOTTO, L. MORETTI and P. VALBONESI, *Fiscal consolidation by intergovernmental transfers cuts? The unpleasant effect on expenditure arrears,* Economic Modelling, v. 77, pp. 266-275, WP 1076 (July 2016).
- CIANI E., F. DAVID and G. DE BLASIO, *Local responses to labor demand shocks: a re-assessment of the case of Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 75, pp. 1-21, WP 1112 (April 2017).
- CIANI E. and P. FISHER, *Dif-in-dif estimators of multiplicative treatment effects*, Journal of Econometric Methods, v. 8. 1, pp. 1-10, WP 985 (November 2014).
- CIAPANNA E. and M. TABOGA, *Bayesian analysis of coefficient instability in dynamic regressions*, Econometrics, MDPI, Open Access Journal, v. 7, 3, pp.1-32, WP 836 (November 2011).
- COLETTA M., R. DE BONIS and S. PIERMATTEI, *Household debt in OECD countries: the role of supply-side and demand-side factors,* Social Indicators Research, v. 143, 3, pp. 1185–1217, WP 989 (November 2014).
- COVA P., P. PAGANO and M. PISANI, *Domestic and international effects of the Eurosystem Expanded Asset Purchase Programme,* IMF Economic Review, v. 67, 2, pp. 315-348, WP 1036 (October 2015).
- ERCOLANI V. and J. VALLE E AZEVEDO, *How can the government spending multiplier be small at the zero lower bound?*, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 23, 8. pp. 3457-2482, **WP 1174 (April 2018).**
- FERRERO G., M. GROSS and S. NERI, *On secular stagnation and low interest rates: demography matters,* International Finance, v. 22, 3, pp. 262-278, **WP 1137 (September 2017).**
- FOA G., L. GAMBACORTA, L. GUISO and P. E. MISTRULLI, *The supply side of household finance*, Review of Financial Studies, v.32, 10, pp. 3762-3798, **WP 1044 (November 2015).**
- GERALI A. and S. NERI, *Natural rates across the Atlantic,* Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 62, article 103019, WP 1140 (September 2017).
- GIORDANO C., M. MARINUCCI and A. SILVESTRINI, *The macro determinants of firms' and households' investment: evidence from Italy*, Economic Modelling, v. 78, pp. 118-133, WP 1167 (March 2018).
- GOMELLINI M., D. PELLEGRINO and F. GIFFONI, *Human capital and urban growth in Italy*, 1981-2001, Review of Urban & Regional Development Studies, v. 31, 2, pp. 77-101, WP 1127 (July 2017).
- LIBERATI D. and M. LOBERTO, *Taxation and housing markets with search frictions*, Journal of Housing Economics, v. 46, article 101632, WP 1105 (March 2017).
- MAGRI S., Are lenders using risk-based pricing in the Italian consumer loan market? The effect of the 2008 crisis, Journal of Credit Risk, v. 15, 1, pp. 27-65, WP 1164 (January 2018).
- MERCATANTI A., T. MAKINEN and A. SILVESTRINI, *The role of financial factors for european corporate investment,* Journal of International Money and Finance, v. 96, pp. 246-258, WP 1148 (October 2017).
- MIGLIETTA A., C. PICILLO and M. PIETRUNTI, *The impact of margin policies on the Italian repo market*, The North American Journal of Economics and Finance, v. 50, **WP 1028 (October 2015).**

- MONTEFORTE L. and V. RAPONI, Short-term forecasts of economic activity: are fortnightly factors useful?, Journal of Forecasting, v. 38, 3, pp. 207-221, WP 1177 (June 2018).
- NERI S. and A. NOTARPIETRO, Collateral constraints, the zero lower bound, and the debt-deflation mechanism, Economics Letters, v. 174, pp. 144-148, WP 1040 (November 2015).
- PANCRAZI R. and M. PIETRUNTI, *Natural expectations and home equity extraction*, Journal of Housing Economics, v. 46, 4, WP 984 (November 2014).
- PEREDA FERNANDEZ S., *Teachers and cheaters. Just an anagram?*, Journal of Human Capital, v. 13, 4, pp. 635-669, WP 1047 (January 2016).
- RIGGI M., Capital destruction, jobless recoveries, and the discipline device role of unemployment, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 23, 2, pp. 590-624, WP 871 (July 2012).

2020

- ALESSANDRI P. and M. BOTTERO, *Bank lending in uncertain times*, R European Economic Review, V. 128, WP 1109 (April 2017).
- ANTUNES A. and V. ERCOLANI, *Public debt expansions and the dynamics of the household borrowing constraint*, Review of Economic Dynamics, v. 37, pp. 1-32, WP 1268 (March 2020).
- ARDUINI T., E. PATACCHINI and E. RAINONE, *Treatment effects with heterogeneous externalities,* Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, , v. 38, 4, pp. 826-838, WP 974 (October 2014).
- BALTRUNAITE A., C. GIORGIANTONIO, S. MOCETTI and T. ORLANDO, Discretion and supplier selection in public procurement, Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization, v. 37, 1, pp. 134-166, WP 1178 (June 2018)
- BOLOGNA P., A. MIGLIETTA and A. SEGURA, *Contagion in the CoCos market? A case study of two stress events*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 16, 6, pp. 137-184, **WP 1201 (November 2018).**
- BOTTERO M., F. MEZZANOTTI and S. LENZU, *Sovereign debt exposure and the Bank Lending Channel: impact on credit supply and the real economy*, Journal of International Economics, v. 126, article 103328, **WP 1032** (October 2015).
- BRIPI F., D. LOSCHIAVO and D. REVELLI, *Services trade and credit frictions: evidence with matched bank firm data*, The World Economy, v. 43, 5, pp. 1216-1252, **WP 1110 (April 2017).**
- BRONZINI R., G. CARAMELLINO and S. MAGRI, Venture capitalists at work: a Diff-in-Diff approach at latestages of the screening process, Journal of Business Venturing, v. 35, 3, WP 1131 (September 2017).
- BRONZINI R., S. MOCETTI and M. MONGARDINI, *The economic effects of big events: evidence from the Great Jubilee 2000 in Rome*, Journal of Regional Science, v. 60, 4, pp. 801-822, WP 1208 (February 2019).
- COIBION O., Y. GORODNICHENKO and T. ROPELE, *Inflation expectations and firms' decisions: new causal evidence*, Quarterly Journal of Economics, v. 135, 1, pp. 165-219, WP 1219 (April 2019).
- CORSELLO F. and V. NISPI LANDI, *Labor market and financial shocks: a time-varying analysis,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 52, 4, pp. 777-801, WP 1179 (June 2018).
- COVA P. and F. NATOLI, *The risk-taking channel of international financial flows*, Journal of International Money and Finance, v. 102, **WP 1152 (December 2017).**
- D'ALESSIO G., *Measurement errors in survey data and the estimation of poverty and inequality indices,* Statistica Applicata - Italian Journal of Applied Statistics, v. 32, 3, **WP 1116 (June 2017).**
- DEL PRETE S. and S. FEDERICO, *Do links between banks matter for bilateral trade? Evidence from financial crises,* Review of World Economic, v. 156, 4, pp. 859 885, WP 1217 (April 2019).
- D'IGNAZIO A. and C. MENON, *The causal effect of credit Guarantees for SMEs: evidence from Italy,* The Scandinavian Journal of Economics, v. 122, 1, pp. 191-218, **WP 900 (February 2013).**
- ERCOLANI V. and F. NATOLI, *Forecasting US recessions: the role of economic uncertainty*, Economics Letters, v. 193, **WP 1299 (October 2020).**
- MAKINEN T., L. SARNO and G. ZINNA, *Risky bank guarantees*, Journal of Financial Economics, v. 136, 2, pp. 490-522, **WP 1232 (July 2019).**
- MODENA F., E. RETTORE and G. M. TANZI, *The effect of grants on university dropout rates: evidence from the Italian case,* Journal of Human Capital, v. 14, 3, pp. 343-370, WP 1193 (September 2018).
- NISPI LANDI V., *Capital controls spillovers*, Journal of International Money and Finance, v. 109, WP 1184 (July 2018).
- PERICOLI M., On risk factors of the stock-bond correlation, International Finance, v. 23, 3, pp. 392-416, WP 1198 (November 2018).
- RAINONE E., *The network nature of OTC interest rates*, Journal of Financial Markets, v.47, article 100525, WP 1022 (July 2015).
- RAINONE E. and F. VACIRCA, *Estimating the money market microstructure with negative and zero interest rates*, Quantitative Finance, v. 20, 2, pp. 207-234, WP 1059 (March 2016).
- RIZZICA L., *Raising aspirations and higher education. Evidence from the UK's widening participation policy,* Journal of Labor Economics, v. 38, 1, pp. 183-214, **WP 1188 (September 2018).**
- SANTIONI, R., F. SCHIANTARELLI and P. STRAHAN, *Internal capital markets in times of crisis: the benefit of group affiliation*, Review of Finance, v. 24, 4, pp. 773-811, WP 1146 (October 2017).
- SCHIANTARELLI F., M. STACCHINI and P. STRAHAN, *Bank Quality, judicial efficiency and loan repayment delays in Italy,* Journal of Finance, v. 75, 4, pp. 2139-2178, WP 1072 (July 2016).

2021

- ACCETTURO A., A. LAMORGESE, S. MOCETTI and D. PELLEGRINO, *Housing Price elasticity and growth: evidence from Italian cities,* Journal of Economic Geography, v. 21, 3, pp. 367-396, WP 1267 (March 2020).
- AFFINITO M. and M. PIAZZA, Always look on the bright side? Central counterparties and interbank markets during the financial crisis, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 17, 1, pp. 231-283, WP 1181 (July 2018).
- ALBANESE G., E. CIANI and G. DE BLASIO, *Anything new in town? The local effects of urban regeneration policies in Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 86, **WP 1214 (April 2019).**
- ALBERTAZZI A., A. NOBILI and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *The bank lending channel of conventional and unconventional monetary policy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 53, 2-3, pp. 261-299, **WP 1094 (Jan 2017)**.
- APRIGLIANO V. and D. LIBERATI, Using credit variables to date business cycle and to estimate the probabilities of recession in real time, The Manchester School, v. 89, 51, pp. 76-96, WP 1229 (July 2019).
- BARONE G., F. DAVID, G. DE BLASIO and S.MOCETTI, *How do house prices respond to mortgage supply?*, Journal of Economic Geography, v. 21, 1, pp.127-140, **WP 1282 (June 2020).**
- BARTOCCI A., L. BURLON, A. NOTARPIETRO and M. PISANI, Macroeconomic effects of non-standard monetary policy measures in the Euro Area: the role of corporate bond purchases, The Manchester School, v. 89, S1, pp. 97-130, WP 1241 (Oct 2019).
- BENETTON M. and D. FANTINO, *Targeted monetary policy and bank lending behavior*, Journal of Financial Economics, v. 142, 1, pp. 404-429, WP 1187 (September 2018).
- BUSETTI F., M. CAIVANO and D. DELLE MONACHE, *Domestic and global determinants of inflation: evidence from expectile regression*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 83, 4, pp. 982-1001, WP 1324 (March 2021).
- CARMIGNANI A., G. DE BLASIO, C. DEMMA and A. D'IGNAZIO, *Urbanization and firm access to credit*, Journal of Regional Science, v. 61, 3, pp. 597-622, WP 1222 (June 2019).
- CORNELI F., *Financial integration without financial development*, Atlantic Economic Journal, v. 49, 2, pp. 201-220, **WP 1120 (June 2017).**
- COVA P., P. PAGANO, A. NOTARPIETRO and M. PISANI, *Secular stagnation, R&D, public investment and monetary policy: a global-model perspective,* Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 25, 5, pp. 1267-1287, WP 1156 (December 2017).
- DEL PRETE S. and M. L. STEFANI, Women as "Gold Dust": gender diversity in top boards and the performance of Italian banks, Economic Notes, Monte dei Paschi di Siena, v. 50, 2, e12183, WP 1014 (June 2015).
- DE PHILIPPIS M., *Multitask agents and incentives: the case of teaching and research for university professors,* Economic Journal, v. 131, 636, pp. 1643-1681, **WP 1042 (December 2015).**
- FIDORA M., C. GIORDANO and M. SCHMITZ, *Real exchange rate misalignments in the Euro Area*, Open Economies Review, v. 32, 1, pp. 71-107, **WP 1162 (January 2018).**
- LI F., A. MERCATANTI, T. MAKINEN and A. SILVESTRINI, *A regression discontinuity design for ordinal running variables: evaluating central bank purchases of corporate bonds*, The Annals of Applied Statistics, v. 15, 1, pp. 304-322, **WP 1213 (March 2019).**

- LOSCHIAVO D., *Household debt and income inequality: evidence from Italian survey data,* Review of Income and Wealth. v. 67, 1, pp. 61-103, WP 1095 (January 2017).
- METELLI L. and F. NATOLI, *The international transmission of US tax shocks: a proxy-SVAR approach*, IMF Economic Review, v. 69, 2, pp. 325-356, **WP 1223 (June 2019).**
- NISPI LANDI V. and A. SCHIAVONE, *The effectiveness of capital controls*, Open Economies Review, v. 32, 1, pp. 183-211, WP 1200 (November 2018).
- PEREDA FERNANDEZ S., Copula-based random effects models for clustered data, Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, v. 39, 2, pp. 575-588, WP 1092 (January 2017).

FORTHCOMING

- ALBANESE G., G. DE BLASIO and A. LOCATELLI, *Does EU regional policy promote local TFP growth? Evidence* from the Italian Mezzogiorno, Papers in Regional Science, **WP 1253 (December 2019).**
- ANZUINI A. and L. ROSSI, Fiscal policy in the US: a new measure of uncertainty and its effects on the American economy, Empirical Economics, WP 1197 (November 2018).
- BATINI N., A. CANTELMO, G. MELINA and S. VILLA, *How loose, how tight? A measure of monetary and fiscal stance for the euro area,* Oxford Economic Papers, WP 1295 (September 2020).
- BANERJEE R, L. GAMBACORTA and E. SETTE, *The real effects of relationship lending*, Journal of Financial Intermediation, v. 48, **WP 1133 (September 2017).**
- BOTTERO M., C. MINOIU, J. PEYDRÒ, A. POLO, A. PRESBITERO and E. SETTE, *Expansionary yet different: credit supply and real effects of negative interest rate policy,* Journal of Financial Economics, WP 1269 (March 2020).
- BUSETTI F., M. CAIVANO, D. DELLE MONACHE and C. PACELLA, *The time-varying risk of Italian GDP*, Economic Modelling, v. 101, WP 1288 (July 2020).
- BUSETTI F., S. NERI, A. NOTARPIETRO and M. PISANI, *Monetary Policy strategies in the new normal: a model*based analysis for the Euro Area, Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 70, WP 1308 (December 2020).
- CAPOLONGO A. and C. PACELLA, Forecasting inflation in the Euro Area: countries matter, Empirical Economics, WP 1224 (June 2019).
- FERRERO G., M. LOBERTO and M. MICCOLI, *The assets' pledgeability channel of unconventional monetary policy*, Economic Inquiry, **WP 1119 (June 2017).**
- GAMBACORTA L., G. RICOTTI, S. SUNDARESAN and Z. WANG, *Tax effects on bank liability structure*, European Economic Review, **WP 1101 (February 2017).**
- GUISO L., A. POZZI, A. TSOY, L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *The cost of steering in financial markets:* evidence from the mortgage market, Journal of Financial Economics, **WP 1252 (December 2019).**
- HERTWECK M., V. LEWIS and S. VILLA, *Going the extra mile: effort by workers and job-seekers*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, **WP 1277 (June 2020).**
- LOBERTO M, *Foreclosures and house prices*, Italian Economic Journal / Rivista italiana degli economisti, WP 1325 (March 2021).
- LOBERTO M, A. LUCIANI and M. PANGALLO, *What do online listings tell us about the housing market?*, International Journal of Central Banking, **WP 1171 (April 2018).**
- MOCETTI S., G. ROMA and E. RUBOLINO, *Knocking on parents' doors: regulation and intergenerational mobility,* Journal of Human Resources, WP 1182 (July 2018).
- PAPETTI A., Demographics and the natural real interest rate: historical and projected paths for the Euro Area, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, WP 1306 (November 2020).
- PERICOLI M. and M. TABOGA, Nearly exact Bayesian estimation of non-linear no-arbitrage term-structure models, Journal of Financial Econometrics, WP 1189 (September 2018).
- PIETRUNTI M. and F. M. SIGNORETTI, Unconventional monetary policy and household debt: the role of cashflow effects, Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 64, WP 1142 (October 2017).
- SCHIVARDI F., E. SETTE and G. TABELLINI, Credit misallocation during the European financial crisis, Economic Journal, WP 1139 (September 2017).
- TABOGA M., Cross-country differences in the size of venture capital financing rounds: a machine learning approach, Empirical Economics, WP 1243 (November 2019).